Aus dem Institut für Tierernährung und Stoffwechselphysiologie der Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel

Response of urinary purine derivatives excretion to nutritional factors affecting ruminal microbial protein synthesis in cattle

Dissertation

Zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Agrar- und Ernährungswissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel

vorgelegt von

M.Sc. Veronika Sandra Ahnert

Kiel, 2014

Response of urinary purine derivatives excretion to nutritional factors affecting ruminal microbial protein synthesis in cattle

Dissertation

Zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Agrar- und Ernährungswissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel

> vorgelegt von M.Sc. Veronika <u>Sandra</u> Ahnert aus Karl-Marx-Stadt Kiel, 2014

Gedruckt mit Genehmigung der Agrar- und Ernährungswissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel.

Dekan:						
1. Berichterstatter:						
2. Berichterstatter:						
Tag der mündlichen Prüfung:						

Prof. Dr. E. Hartung Prof. Dr. A. Susenbeth Jun.-Prof. Dr. U. Dickhöfer 28.01.2015

Die Dissertation wurde dankenswerterweise vom Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (BMBF) gefördert.

Contents

1	General introduction1				
1.1 Protein evaluation systems					
1.2 Estimati			mation of duodenal microbial crude protein flow	3	
1.2.1			Purine metabolism and urinary purine derivatives excretion	4	
	1.2	.2	Endogenous purine derivatives	6	
1.2.3		.3	Estimating microbial protein supply from urinary excretion of puderivatives.	rine 6	
1.3 Objectives and hypotheses of the thesis			ectives and hypotheses of the thesis	8	
	1.4	Ref	erences	9	
2	Res	spons	se of urinary purine derivatives excretion to different levels of ruminal		
	glu	cose	infusion in heifers	17	
	2.1	Abs	stract	18	
	2.2	Intr	oduction	18	
	2.3	Mat	terial and Methods	19	
	2.3.	.1	Animals and feeding	19	
2.3.2		.2	Experimental designs and procedures	20	
2.3.3		.3	Sample collection and preparation	22	
2.3.4		.4	Chemical analyses	23	
2.3.5 Calculations and statistical analyses			Calculations and statistical analyses	24	
	2.4	Res	ults	25	
2.4.1 Pre-trial			Pre-trial	25	
	2.4	.2	Main trial	27	
2.5 Discussion		Dise	cussion	33	
2.5.1 Urin			Urinary purine derivatives excretion level	33	
2.5.2 2.5.3		.2	Effect of glucose infusion on urinary purine derivatives excretion	33	
		.3	Fecal nitrogen excretion	36	
	2.5	.4	Purine derivatives excretion at Control II	36	
	2.6	Cor	nclusions	37	
	2.7	Ref	erences	37	
3	Inf	lueno	ce of ruminal Quebracho tannin extract infusion on apparent nutrient	- 40	
	dig	estib	ility, nitrogen balance, and urinary purine derivatives excretion in heifer	5.42	
	3.1	Abs	stract	43	

	3.2	2	Intro	oduction	43
	3.3 Material and methods				44
	3.3.1			Animals, feeding, and experimental design	44
	3.3.2		2	Sample collection and preparation	47
	3.3.3		3	Laboratory analyses	47
		3.3.4	4	Calculations and statistical analyses	49
3.4 Results			Res	ults	49
	3.5	5	Disc	cussion	55
		3.5.	1	Apparent total tract nutrient digestibility	55
		3.5.2	2	Nitrogen excretion and retention	56
3.5.3			3	Urinary purine derivatives excretion and estimated microbial pro- synthesis	otein 57
	3.6	5	Con	clusions	58
	3.7	7	Refe	erences	58
4		Gen	eral	discussion	64
4.1 Validation of urinary purine derivatives excretion as an indicator for estimation of duodenal microbial protein flow				n of 64	
4.1.1 Accuracy of urinary purine derivatives e flow			1	Accuracy of urinary purine derivatives excretion to quantify microbial profilow	otein 64
4.1.2 Reliability of urinary purine derivatives excretion to reflect re duodenal microbial protein flow			Reliability of urinary purine derivatives excretion to reflect relative change duodenal microbial protein flow	s in 66	
	4	4.1.	3	Equations to predict the duodenal purine bases flow	68
4.1.4 Implications of using the urinary purine derivatives excretion as indicato microbial protein flow				for 70	
	4.2 Strategies to modify microbial protein synthesis and efficiency of nitrogen utilization in the rumen				
	2	4.2.	1	Feeding rapidly fermentable carbohydrates	72
	2	4.2.2	2	The use of Quebracho tannin extract in modification of rumen pro- turnover	otein 73
	4.3	;	Con	clusions	74
	4.4	Ļ	Refe	erences	75
5	9	Sun	nma	ry	84
6	2	Zus	amn	nenfassung	86

List of figures

Figure 1 Purine ring				
Figure 2 Principle of the method for estimation of microbial protein supply to the ruminant from urinary excretion of purine derivatives (modified after Chen and Gomes, 1992)7				
Figure 3 Mean daily urinary purine derivatives (PD) excretion in heifers (n=3) during the pre- trial. The continuous line represents the estimated regression equation, and the dotted line marks the onset of intraruminal infusion of glucose (1000 g/d) and urea (90 g/d) at day				
21				
Figure 4 Urinary purine derivatives (PD) excretion in heifers (n=4) in response to				
incremental intraruminal glucose infusion during the main trial				

List of tables

Table 1 Chemical composition of the grass hay and the concentrate feed used in the basal diets of the pre-trial (n=3) and main trial (n=6; arithmetic means ± standard deviations). 20
Table 2 Urinary purine derivatives (PD) excretion, intake and excretion of nitrogen (N), and apparent total tract nutrient digestibilities in heifers (n=3) without (basal) and with 1000 g/d glucose and 90 g/d urea infusion during the pre-trial (least squares means and standard errors of the means (SEM)). 27
Table 3 Urinary purine derivatives (PD) excretion in heifers (n=4) without glucose infusion (Control I and II) and with infusion of glucose at 125 g/d (G ₁₂₅), 250 g/d (G ₂₅₀), 500 g/d (G ₅₀₀), and 1000 g/d (G ₁₀₀₀) during the main trial (least squares means and standard errors of the means (SEM)).
Table 4 Nitrogen (N) excretion and apparent total tract nutrient digestibilities in heifers (n=4)without (Control I and II) and with infusion of glucose at 125 g/d (G_{125}), 250 g/d (G_{250}),500 g/d (G_{500}), and 1000 g/d (G_{1000}) during the main trial (least squares means andstandard errors of the means (SEM)).31
Table 5 Chemical composition of the grass hay and the concentrate feed (arithmetic means ± standard deviations; n=6 samples). 46
Table 6 Minimum (min), maximum (max), and mean daily ambient air temperatures andrelative air humidity during the collection phase at control periods (CON 1 and 2) and atdifferent levels of intraruminal Quebracho tannin extract (QTE) infusion in heifers 46
Table 7 Nitrogen (N) excretion and apparent total tract nutrient digestibilities during control periods (CON 1 and 2) and at different levels of intraruminal Quebracho tannin extract (QTE) infusion in heifers (least squares means, standard errors of the means (SEM), n=6).
Table 8 Linear regression equations (y = ax + b) between urinary purine derivatives excretion (PD), nitrogen (N) excretion, and apparent total tract nutrient digestibilities (y, dependent variables) and Quebracho tannin extract dosage (x, independent variable, in % DM intake) (Coefficient value and standard errors (SE), n=6)
Table 9 Urinary purine derivatives excretion (PD) during control periods (CON 1 and 2) and at different levels of intraruminal Quebracho tannin extract (QTE) infusion in heifers (least squares means, standard errors of the means (SEM), n=6)

1 General introduction

The ruminant digestive system maintains a symbiotic relationship with ruminal microorganisms. This symbiosis enables the host animal to utilize fibrous plant biomass and non-protein nitrogen (N) as food resources that would not be utilizable otherwise and make ruminants independent of external sources of B-vitamins and amino acids (Van Soest, 1982). The ruminal fermentation is a result of physical and microbiological activities converting complex lignocellulosic plant material into microbial biomass and valuable fermentation end products (i.e. short-chain fatty acids) that can be used by the host animal. Microbial fermentation occurs under continuous-culture conditions, whereby the frequent intake of feed, removal of end products, and outflow of microbial biomass enables a continual growth of ruminal microbes (Edwards et al., 2008). The microbial biomass which is not recycled within the rumen and leaves the rumen accounts for more than 50 % of protein available for absorption at the small intestine (Clark et al., 1992) and greatly contributes the animals' supply of essential amino acids. The microbial crude protein (MCP) is characterized by a high and relatively constant quality because it is rich in most of the essential amino acids (Clark et al., 1992). The rumen microbial ecosystem is complex and highly diverse, consisting of bacteria, archaea, protozoa, and fungi. Growth of rumen microbes mainly depends on the availability of N sources (i.e. true protein, non-protein N) and of energy for protein synthesis coming from the fermentation of structural and non-structural carbohydrates which provides carbon skeletons (Clark et al., 1992; Stern et al., 1994; Bach et al., 2005). If dietary rumen degradable protein is in excess relative to the amount required by rumen microbes, ammonia-N is absorbed, metabolized to urea in the liver, and excreted via urine and milk. Therefore, the synchrony of the availability of ruminal degradable protein and carbohydrate may influence microbial growth and efficiency of MCP synthesis (Kim et al., 1999; Dewhurst et al., 2000; Bach et al., 2005), although reports in the literature are inconsistent (Reynolds and Kristensen, 2008; Hall and Huntington, 2008). The yield of microbial biomass is not solely determined by the availability of nutrients for microbial growth, but also by the energy used by rumen microbes for maintenance which in turn depends on the maintenance requirements and growth rate of the microbial species (Dewhurst et al., 2000). Therefore, the efficiency of MCP synthesis (i.e. g MCP/ kg organic matter fermented) is not constant. Besides these nutritional factors mentioned, other non-nutritional factors such as ruminal pH value (Strobel and Russell, 1986), rate of digestion and passage (Firkins et al., 1998), and defaunation (Jouany et al., 1988; Broudiscou and Jouany, 1995) influence microbial growth and efficiency of MCP synthesis.

Despite the advantages of ruminal fermentation, the conversion of dietary protein into the products (e.g. meat, milk) is less efficient compared to non-ruminants (Tamminga, 1992; Dewhurst et al., 2000) because only 15 to 40 % of ingested dietary crude protein (CP) is retained in products (Calsamiglia et al., 2010). This lower efficiency of N utilization and the emission of N is one of the predominant environmental concerns (Dijkstra et al., 2013). Major losses of N in cattle production systems come from fertilizers and manure (urine and feces) causing volatilization of ammonia and nitrous oxide, and nitrate contamination in soil and ground water (Tamminga, 1996). As urinary N is more susceptible to leaching and volatile N losses compared to fecal N, reducing the urinary N excretion will contribute to reduce the environmental impact (Dijkstra et al., 2013). Strategies to improve the efficiency of N assimilation by ruminal microbes include feeding dietary degradable CP concentrations that meet microbial requirements and reducing excess of rumen degradable N (Tamminga, 1992; Reynolds and Kristensen, 2008). Therefore, ruminant nutritionists are challenged to optimize ruminal processes in terms of maximizing yield and efficiency of nutrient utilization as well as reducing the environmental impact of livestock production. The accurate measurement of MCP synthesis is essential in order to investigate the factors affecting microbial yield and efficiency of MCP synthesis (Reynal et al., 2005), to improve the accuracy of protein feeding to ruminants, and to reduce environmental burdens from ruminant production (Dijkstra et al., 2013).

1.1 Protein evaluation systems

A profound understanding and manipulation of MCP synthesis are essential for optimizing the production performance of ruminant livestock (Stern et al., 1994; Dijkstra et al., 1998). The current German protein evaluation system for dairy cows and heifers of utilizable CP at the duodenum (uCP; GfE, 2001) is based on empirical equations which are a direct description of observed data developed under experimental conditions. The synthesis of MCP is predicted assuming a fixed yield of MCP that is generated per unit of metabolizable energy intake or organic matter fermented, assuming that N is not limiting. Within such a system, effects such as the substrate type and dietary concentration, microbial interactions, and other dietary factors influencing MCP synthesis are not considered (Dijkstra et al., 1998). Other protein evaluation systems currently in use such as the Cornell Net Carbohydrate and Protein System

in the USA (CNCPS; Fox et al., 2004), the Feed into Milk system in the UK (FiM; Thomas, 2004), and the DVE/OEB₂₀₁₀ system in the Netherlands (VanDuinkerken et al., 2011) are mathematical models which include empirical and mechanistic approaches. As example, these systems predict the energy yield and supply to rumen microbes depending on the substrate fermented and thus, might be able to predict MCP synthesis more precisely (Dijkstra et al., 1998). Furthermore, the DVE/OEB₂₀₁₀ considers variation in the efficiency of MCP synthesis due to differences in fractional outflow rates of particle- and liquid-associated microbes which determines different requirements of energy for their maintenance. Irrespective of the systems, data observed are mainly derived from studies with surgically modified animals kept under experimental conditions. However, these conditions may not be representative to practical feeding conditions and may be insufficient to accurately predict MCP supply to the animal (Titgemeyer, 1997). Hence, on-farm methods based on indirect indicators are required that are able to monitor rumen function and MCP supply in intact animals in order to support farmers and advisers in feeding decisions and to improve the efficiency of dietary N utilization (Dewhurst et al., 1996).

1.2 Estimation of duodenal microbial crude protein flow

The quantification of MCP synthesis in vivo is difficult due to the complexity of the rumen system, and more specifically the great diversity of microbial species and their interactions, and different nutrient requirements and metabolism (Dewhurst et al., 2000; Bach et al., 2005). Several methods have been developed for estimation of duodenal MCP flow, however, all have limitations that affect the accuracy of prediction (Dijkstra et al., 1998; Dehority, 2003). In vivo methods for measuring duodenal MCP flow and for validation of prediction equations rely on the surgical cannulation of animals and the use of appropriate markers to label the flow of digesta and the microbial biomass. Such invasive method leads to animal care concerns, is expensive, time-consuming, affect the animals' dry matter (DM) intake, and yields variable results and therefore reproducibility and representativeness of measurements are poor (Titgemeyer, 1997). To measure MCP flow in vivo the proportion of MCP of total duodenal CP flow must be determined. For this, MCP must be distinguished from dietary rumen un-degraded CP and endogenous CP (Dewhurst et al., 2000). Measuring duodenal MCP flow depends on the use of suitable microbial markers in which a particular microbial constituent is related to cell number, weight, or N content (Broderick and Merchen, 1992). Moreover, knowledge of the marker to N ratios in different species of ruminal bacteria and protozoa is required (Broderick and Merchen, 1992). Microbial markers are classified into internal and external markers. Internal markers are natural components that are unique in microorganisms, such as 2,6-diaminopimelic acid (Hutton et al., 1971), D-Alanine (Garrett et al., 1982), nucleic acids (Smith and McAllan, 1970), and total purine bases (Zinn and Owens, 1986). External markers are stable or radioactive isotopes, including ¹⁵N (Brandt et al., 1980) and ³⁵SO₄ (Beever et al., 1974) that will get incorporated into MCP. *In vivo* and *in vitro* studies have shown pronounced differences in MCP estimates obtained with different markers (Siddons et al., 1982; Carro and Miller, 2002; Reynal et al., 2005). Moreover, most markers only capture bacterial biomass and are not suitable to estimate the contribution of protozoa to total microbial biomass (Dewhurst et al., 2000). Thus, none of the microbial markers known can be regarded as ideal and suitable (Obispo and Dehority, 1999). As summarized by Dehority (2003), "… no marker technique can be any better than our ability to isolate a specific microbial fraction from the rumen to serve as a reference standard. This fraction obviously needs to be representative of the microbial population which we wish to estimate."

1.2.1 Purine metabolism and urinary purine derivatives excretion

To determine MCP flow in vivo, simpler and more accurate methods are needed. Unicellular organisms have been recognized as markers for ruminal MCP synthesis due to their high concentrations of nucleic acids compared to the concentration in plant and mammalian cells (Broderick and Merchen, 1992). Although there is large variation, overall mean purine and protein content of mixed bacterial isolates is 1.4 % DM (or 1.9 x 10^{-8} µg/cell) and 44.0 % DM (or 59.8 x 10⁻⁸ µg/cell), respectively (Obispo and Dehority, 1999). The close relationship between the excretion of purine derivatives (PD) in urine and the amount of MCP synthesized in the rumen was first published in 1965 by Topps and Elliot. The authors were the first who showed the correlation between nucleic acid concentration in the rumen and excretion of PD in urine of sheep and proposed its use as an index of the efficiency of protein utilization in the ruminant. In the next decades, much research has been done investigating the excretion of PD, for instance, in urine of sheep (Puchala and Kulasek, 1992; Balcells et al., 1993; Chamberlain et al., 1993), cattle (Verbic et al., 1990; Chen et al., 1992, 1995b; Orellana Boero et al., 2001), and goats (Belenguer et al., 2002), as well as in milk of dairy cows (Giesecke et al., 1994; Vagnoni and Broderick, 1997) with the objective to use this as a parameter for estimating MCP supply to the ruminant and to aid understanding of the effects of dietary factors on MCP synthesis.



Figure 1 Purine ring

The purine bases adenine and guanine are major components of nucleic acids (deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) and ribonucleic acid (RNA)). Furthermore, purine nucleotides are part of many coenzymes (e.g. A (CoA), nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD)) as well as of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) and guanosine triphosphate (GTP). A purine is a heterocyclic aromatic organic compound, consisting of a pyrimidine ring fused to an imidazole ring (Figure 1). Purines are either synthesized de novo or reused from salvage pathway. In ruminants, the majority of purine bases reaching the duodenum are considered to originate from rumen microbes because ruminant feedstuffs have generally lower purine contents than rumen microbes and dietary nucleic acids were reported to be rapidly degraded in the rumen (McAllan and Smith, 1973; McAllan, 1982). In the duodenum, the high secretion of pancreatic nucleases hydrolyzes nucleic acids into nucleotides (base + pentose + phosphate), nucleosides (base + pentose), and free bases (McAllan, 1982). Free purine bases and nucleosides are readily absorbed via sodium dependent transporter into the mucosal epithelium. Since there is a high xanthine oxidase activity in the intestinal mucosa and plasma of cattle (Al-Khalidi and Chaglassian, 1965), most of the absorbed purines are rapidly oxidized to uric acid which cannot be incorporated into tissue nucleic acids. In sheep, xanthine oxidase activity is very low (Al-Khalidi and Chaglassian, 1965) which explains the high appearance of the non-oxidized purines hypoxanthine and xanthine in the portal and peripheral blood (Balcells et al., 1992). Hypoxanthine can be salvaged for incorporation into tissues nucleic acids, however, after oxidation of hypoxanthine by xanthine oxidase to uric acid a reutilization is not possible (Chen et al., 1990c; Balcells et al., 1992). All purines that are not salvaged or decomposed from tissues nucleic acids are catabolized to their derivatives, namely allantoin, uric acid, xanthine, and hypoxanthine. The concentration of plasma PD is maintained constant and the disposal of PD is mainly via the urine and other non-renal routes such as saliva (Chen et al., 1990a), gut (Berlin and Hawkins, 1968), and milk (Giesecke et al., 1994). Therefore, estimation of MCP supply from urinary PD excretion must account for the proportion of plasma PD excreted via non-renal routes. The end product of purine catabolism is species-specific (Stangassinger et al., 1995). In bovine plasma and urine, allantoin is quantitatively the main PD next to uric acid, whereas hypoxanthine and xanthine are almost

absent (Verbic et al., 1990). However, sheep excrete all four compounds (allantoin, uric acid, hypoxanthine and xanthine) in considerable amounts (Stangassinger et al., 1995). Hence, models to estimating MCP supply must account for differences between ruminant species.

1.2.2 Endogenous purine derivatives

In animal tissues there is a continuous process of purine nucleotides degradation and resynthesis of purines either from *de novo* or from preformed purines by the salvage pathway (Chen and Ørskov, 2003). A small fraction of the purine nucleotides from tissues are excreted via the urine after degradation to PD which are the so called "endogenous PD". For modelling MCP supply from urinary PD excretion, there is a necessity to quantify the contribution of endogenous PD to total PD excretion. In cattle, the endogenous PD excretion was measured by Verbic et al., (1990) and Chen et al. (1990c) using the "intra gastric nutrition technique" (Ørskov et al., 1979), by Giesecke et al. (1993) using the technique of "gastric emptying" (Balcells et al., 1991), and by Orellana-Boero et al. (2001) and González-Ronquillo et al. (2003) using the "stable isotope technique" (Pérez et al., 1998). Variation of the measured endogenous PD excretion was smaller when expressed in terms of metabolic body weight (BW^{0.75}; Orellana-Boero et al., 2001). Values of measured endogenous PD excretion in European cattle ranged between 0.428 (Verbic et al., 1990) and 0.514 mmol/kg BW^{0.75} (Chen et al., 1990c) whereby the physiological state of the animal (e.g. dry or lactating cows) seems to have only a minor effect (Tas and Susenbeth, 2007).

1.2.3 Estimating microbial protein supply from urinary excretion of purine derivatives

The underlying principle of the PD approach is simple as illustrated in Figure 2. The duodenal flow of purines originates mainly from rumen microbial nucleic acids (McAllan and Smith, 1973; McAllan, 1982). As an exception, feeding diets containing fishmeal showed that a substantial proportion of purine bases escaped the rumen because fishmeal naturally has high amounts of nucleic acids (Djouvinov et al., 1998). Therefore, feeding fishmeal will potentially lead to inaccuracy when using urinary PD excretion to estimate MCP flow. The digestibility of purine bases in the small intestine is assumed to be similar to the mean digestibility of nucleic acids of 0.83 derived from literature values (Chen and Ørskov, 2003). The knowledge of the quantitative relationship between excretion of PD in urine and duodenal purine bases flow as well as the contribution of endogenous PD to total PD excretion in urine is prerequisite for using urinary PD excretion to predict duodenal MCP flow. Since the recovery of absorbed purine bases and the endogenous PD losses in urine differs among ruminant

species, prediction equations for duodenal MCP flow from urinary PD excretion were proposed for sheep (Chen et al., 1990b, 1992; Balcells et al., 1991), cattle (Verbic et al., 1990; Vagnoni et al., 1997), zebu cattle (Pimpa et al., 2001), buffalo (Pimpa et al., 2003), and goats (Belenguer et al., 2002). Duodenal MCP flow can be calculated from the predicted flow of purine bases, the purine-N to total-N ratio of microbial biomass, the N content of microbial purines, and the duodenal digestibility of microbial purines.



Figure 2 Principle of the method for estimation of microbial protein supply to the ruminant from urinary excretion of purine derivatives (modified after Chen and Gomes, 1992).

The model to estimate duodenal MCP flow in European cattle after Chen and Ørskov (2003) that was used in this thesis is based on the linear regression equation established by Verbic et al. (1990; Equation (1)) to predict the absorption of purine bases (x, mmol/day) from the total urinary PD excretion (y, mmol/day), the recovery rate of absorbed PD (slope), and the endogenous PD contribution (intercept) in terms of BW^{0.75} (in kg).

$$y = 0.85x + 0.385 * BW^{0.75}$$
(1)
Thus, $x = (y - 0.385 * BW^{0.75}) \div 0.85$

The urinary PD method is based on the following assumptions:

i) The ratio of purine-N to total-N of the ruminal microbial matter is considered to be constant.

ii) The true intestinal digestibility of purine nucleosides and free bases is constant.

iii) The species-specific excretion of endogenous PD is considered as constant in relation to the $BW^{0.75}$ of the animals.

iv) The recovery rate of absorbed exogenous purines in urine is constant in cattle.

The advantage of the PD method is that it is non-invasive and that the analysis of PD in urine is easy, cheap, and rapid. The total collection of daily urine volume is required to calculate the total urinary PD excretion. However, spot urine samples could serve as an alternative to total urine collection which would be easy and feasible under practical feeding conditions (Chen et al., 1992). For this, daily urine volume can be estimated from the molar ratio of urinary PD to creatinine concentration in urine spot samples (Chen et al., 1995a). Besides, the mammary excretion of PD would be very attractive to avoid total collection of urine and sampling would be much easier, however, several studies have shown a high correlation with milk yield making it unsuitable as an indicator for MCP supply (Susmel et al., 1995; Shingfield and Offer, 1998). Urinary PD excretion has the potential to overcome the disadvantages of invasive methods and to be used in field and on-farm studies (Chen and Ørskov, 2003; Moorby et al., 2006).

1.3 Objectives and hypotheses of the thesis

Providing high-producing ruminants with adequate amounts of protein is of great importance in order to improve production performance and efficiency of N utilization and to prevent an oversupply with protein which in turn may cause metabolic stress, fertility disorders, and increase the emission of environmental pollutants. Protein synthesized by rumen microbes accounts for a major proportion of ruminants protein supply and thus, the quantification of duodenal MCP flow is a key issue in ruminant nutrition. The overall aim of this thesis was to investigate the response of urinary PD excretion to nutritional factors affecting ruminal MCP synthesis in two animal studies in order to evaluate the accuracy and validity of this indicator to reflect changes in MCP supply. The influence of an intraruminal infused rapidly fermentable carbohydrate to enhance and a condensed tannin source to reduce duodenal MCP flow were tested with regard to changes in urinary PD excretion, N excretion via feces and urine, and apparent total tract nutrient digestibilities. Also, the influence of these nutritional factors was discussed in view of modification of rumen metabolism to improve MCP synthesis and efficiency of N utilization (General discussion; Chapter 4).

Within the first study (Chapter 2), a trial was conducted to examine urinary PD excretion in response to ruminal carbohydrate supplementation by testing four dosages of glucose that were infused intraruminally in incremental amounts. It was hypothesized that the increase in duodenal MCP flow in response to glucose infusion will linearly increase urinary PD excretion. Furthermore, it was expected that even minor amounts of glucose affect urinary PD excretion.

The second study (Chapter 3) aimed to investigate the effects of intraruminal infusion of increasing dosages of Quebracho tannin extract, a commercial condensed tannin extract, on duodenal MCP flow using urinary PD excretion, apparent nutrient digestibility, and N turnover and partitioning of N excretion. While low to moderate condensed tannins concentrations may be beneficial by binding feed protein in the rumen and thus protecting them from immediate degradation and improve flow of essential amino acids to the small intestine (Jones and Mangan, 1977; Barry and Manley, 1984), higher concentrations of condensed tannins may exert their anti-microbial and anti-nutritional properties and reduce MCP synthesis and nutrient digestibility (Barry and McNabb, 1999). It was hypothesized that low Quebracho tannin extract dosages will reduce ruminal protein degradation without reducing MCP synthesis and fermentation of carbohydrates. Moderate to high dosages of Quebracho tannin extract are expected to reduce ruminal carbohydrate fermentation and the MCP synthesis. Moreover, the response of urinary PD excretion was tested in view of detecting potential increases in duodenal MCP flow and efficiency of MCP synthesis as well as identifying the dosage at which Quebracho tannin extract will decrease both, duodenal MCP flow and efficiency of MCP synthesis.

1.4 References

- Al-Khalidi, U.A.S., Chaglassian, T.H., 1965. The species distribution of xanthine oxidase. Biochem. J. 97, 318-320.
- Bach, A., Calsamiglia, S., Stern, M.D., 2005. Nitrogen metabolism in the rumen. J. Dairy Sci. 88 (E suppl.), E9-E21.
- Balcells, J., Guada, J.A., Castrillo, C., Gasa, J., 1991. Urinary excretion of allantoin and allantoin precursors by sheep after different rates of purine infusion into the duodenum. J. Agric. Sci. 116, 309-317.
- Balcells, J., Parker, D.S., Seal, C.J., 1992. Purine metabolite concentrations in portal and peripheral blood of steers, sheep and rats. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 101B, 633-636.
- Balcells, J., Guada, J.A., Castrillo, C., Gasa, J., 1993. Rumen digestion and urinary excretion of purine derivatives in response to urea supplementation of sodium-treated straw fed to sheep. Br. J. Nutr. 69, 721-732.

- Barry, T.N., Manley, T.R., 1984. The role of condensed tannins in the nutritional value of *Lotus pedunculatus* for sheep. 2. Quantitative digestion of carbohydrates and proteins. Br. J. Nutr. 51, 493-504.
- Barry, T.N., McNabb, W.C., 1999. The implications of condensed tannins on the nutritive value of temperate forages fed to ruminants. Br. J. Nutr. 81, 263-272.
- Beever, D.E., Harrison, D.G., Thompson, D.J., Cammell, S.B., Osbourn, D.F., 1974. A method for the estimation of dietary and microbial protein in duodenal digesta of ruminants. Br. J. Nutr. 32, 32-99.
- Belenguer, A., Yanez, D., Balcells, J., Ozdemir Baber, N.H., Gonzalez Ronquillo, M., 2002. Urinary excretion of purine derivatives and prediction of rumen microbial outflow in goats. Livest. Prod. Sci. 77, 127-135.
- Berlin, R.D., Hawkins, R.A., 1968. Secretion of purines by the small intestine: general characteristics. Am. J. Physiol. 215, 932-941.
- Brandt, M., Rohr, K., Lebzien, P., 1980. Determination of microbial protein synthesized in the rumen by means of 15N. In: Oslage, H.J., Rohr, K. (Eds.), Protein Metabolism and Nutrition, EAAP Publication No. 23, pp. 496-503.
- Broderick, G.A., Merchen, N.R., 1992. Markers for quantifying microbial protein synthesis in the rumen. J. Dairy Sci. 75, 2618-2632.
- Broudiscou, L., Jouany, J.P., 1995. Reassessing the manipulation of protein synthesis by rumen microbes. Reprod. Nutr. Dev. 35, 517-535.
- Calsamiglia, S., Ferret, A., Reynolds, C.K., Kristensen, N.B., van Vuuren, A.M., 2010. Strategies for optimizing nitrogen use by ruminants. Animal 4, 1184-1196.
- Carro, M.D., Miller, E.L., 2002. Comparison of microbial markers (¹⁵N and purine bases) and bacterial isolates for the estimation of rumen microbial protein synthesis. Anim. Sci. 75, 315-321.
- Chamberlain, D.G., Robertson, S., Choung, J.-J., 1993. Sugars versus starch as supplements to grass silage: Effects in ruminal fermentation and the supply of microbial protein to the small intestine, estimated from the urinary excretion of purines derivatives, in sheep. J. Sci. Food Agric. 63, 189-194.

- Chen, X.B., Gomes, M.J., 1992. Estimation of microbial protein supply to sheep and cattle based on urinary excretion of purine derivatives: An overview over technical details. International Feed Resources Unit, Aberdeen, United Kingdom.
- Chen, X.B., Grubic, G., Ørskov, E.R., Osuji, P., 1992. Effect of feeding frequency on diurnal variation in plasma and urinary purine derivatives in steers. Anim. Prod. 55, 185-191.
- Chen, X.B., Hovell, F.D.DeB., Ørskov, E.R., 1990a. Excretion of purine derivatives by ruminants: recycling of allantoin into the rumen via saliva and its fate in the gut. Br. J. Nutr. 63, 197-205.
- Chen, X.B., Hovell, F.D.DeB., Ørskov, E.R., Brown, D.S., 1990b. Excretion of purine derivatives by ruminants: effect of exogenous nucleic acid supply on purine derivative excretion by sheep. Br. J. Nutr. 63, 131-142.
- Chen, X.B., Mejia, A.T., Kyle, D.J., Ørskov, E.R, 1995a. Evaluation of the use of purine derivatives: creatinine ratio in spot urine and plasma samples as an index of microbial protein supply in ruminants: studies in sheep. J. Agric. Sci. 125, 137-143.
- Chen, X.B., Ørskov, E.R., 2003. Research on urinary excretion of purine derivatives in ruminants: past, present, and future. International Feed Resources Unit, Macaulay Land Use Research Institute, Craigiebuckler, Aberdeen, UK.
- Chen, X.B., Ørskov, E.R., Hovell, F.D.DeB., 1990c. Excretion of purine derivatives by ruminants: endogenous excretion, differences between cattle and sheep. Br. J. Nutr. 63, 121-129.
- Chen, X.B., Samaraweera, L., Kyle, D.J., Ørskov, E.R., 1995b. Urinary excretion of purine derivatives and tissue xanthine oxidase (*EC* 1.2.3.2) activity in buffaloes and *Bos taurus* cattle. Br. J. Nutr. 75, 397-407.
- Clark, J.H., Klusmeyer, T.H., Cameron, M.R., 1992. Microbial protein synthesis and flows of nitrogen fractions to the duodenum of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 75, 2304-2323.
- Dehority, B.A., 2003. Rumen microbiology. Nottingham University Press, United Kingdom.
- Dewhurst, R.J., Davies, D.R., Merry, R.J., 2000. Microbial protein supply from the rumen. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 85, 1-21.
- Dewhurst, R.J., Mitton, A.M., Offer, N.W., Thomas, C., 1996. Effects of the composition of grass silages on milk production and nitrogen utilization by dairy cows. Anim. Sci. 62, 25-43.

- Dijkstra, J., France, J., Davies, D.R., 1998. Different mathematical approaches to estimating microbial protein supply in ruminants. J. Dairy Sci. 81, 3370-3384.
- Dijkstra, J., Reynolds, C.K., Kebreab, E., Bannink, A., Ellis, J.L., France, J., van Vuuren, A.M., 2013. Challenges in ruminant nutrition: towards minimal nitrogen losses in cattle. Proceedings of the Energy and Protein Nutrition Symposium 134, 47-57.
- Djouvinov, D.S., Nakashima, Y., Todorov, N., Pavlov, D., 1998. In situ degradation of feed purines. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 71, 67-77.
- Edwards, J.E., Huws, S.A., Kim, E.J., Lee, M.R.F., Kingston-Smith, A.H., Scollan, N.D., 2008. Advances in microbial ecosystem concepts and their consequences for ruminant agriculture. Animal 2, 653-660.
- Firkins et al., 1998. Modelling ruminal digestibility of carbohydrates and microbial protein flow to the duodenum. J. Dairy Sci. 81, 3350-3369.
- Fox, D.G., Tedechi, L.O., Tylutki, T.P., Russell, J.B., Van Amburgh, M.E., Chase, L.E., Pell, A.N., Overton, T.R., 2004. The Cornell Net Carbohydrate and Protein System model for evaluating herd nutrition and nutrient excretion. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 112, 29-78.
- Garrett, J.E., Goodrich, R.D., Meiske, J.C., 1982. Measurement of bacterial nitrogen using Dalanine. In: Owens, F.N. (Eds.), Protein requirements for cattle: Symposium. Stillwater: Oklahoma State University, pp. 23-25.
- GfE, Ausschuss für Bedarfsnormen der Gesellschaft für Ernährungsphysiologie, 2001. Energie- und Nährstoffbedarf landwirtschaftlicher Nutztiere. Nr. 8. Empfehlungen zur Energie- und Nährstoffversorgung der Milchkühe und Aufzuchtrinder. DLG-Verlag, Frankfurt am Main, Germany.
- Giesecke, D., Balsliemke, J., Suedekum, K.-H., Stangassinger, M., 1993. Plasma level, clearance and renal excretion of endogenous and ruminal purines in the bovine. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. 70, 180-189.
- Giesecke, D., Ehrentreich, L., Stangassinger, M., Ahrens, F., 1994. Mammary and renal excretion of purine metabolites in relation to energy intake and milk yield in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 77, 2376-2381.

- González-Ronquillo, M., Balcells, J., Guada, J.A., Vicente, F., 2003. Purine derivative excretion in dairy cows: endogenous excretion and the effect of exogenous nucleic acid supply. J. Dairy Sci. 86, 1282-1291.
- Hall, M.B., Huntington, G.B., 2008. Nutrient synchrony: Sound in theory, elusive in practise.J. Anim. Sci. 86, E287-E292.
- Hutton, K., Bailey, F.J., Annison, E.F., 1971. Measurement of the bacterial nitrogen entering the duodenum of the ruminant using diaminopimelic acid as marker. Br. J. Nutr. 25, 165-173.
- Jouany, J.P., Demeyer, D.I., Grain, J., 1988. Effect of defaunating the rumen. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 21, 229-265.
- Jones, W.T., Mangan, J.L., 1977. Complexes of the condensed tannins of sainfoin with fraction 1 leaf protein and with sub-maxillary mucoprotein, and their reversal by polyethylene glycol and pH. J. Sci. Food Agric. 28, 126-136.
- Kim, K.H., Choung, J.J., Chamberlain, D.G., 1999. Effects of varying the degree of synchrony of energy and nitrogen release in the rumen on the synthesis of microbial protein in lactating dairy cows consuming a diet of grass silage and a cereal-based concentrate. J. Sci. Food Agric. 79, 1441-1447.
- McAllan, A.B., Smith, R.H., 1973. Degradation of nucleic acid derivatives in the rumen. Br. J. Nutr. 29, 331-345.
- McAllan, A.B., 1982. The fate of nucleic acids in ruminants. Proceedings of the Society of Nutrition Physiology 41, 309-317.
- Moorby, J.M., Dewhurst, R.J., Evans, R.T., Danelón, J.L., 2006. Effects of dairy cow diet forage proportion on duodenal nutrient supply and urinary purine derivative excretion.J. Dairy Sci. 89, 3552-3562.
- Obispo, N.E., Dehority, B.A., 1999. Feasibility of using total purines as a marker for ruminal bacteria. J. Anim. Sci. 77, 3084-3095.
- Orellana Boero, P., Balcells, J., Martín-Orúe, S.M., Liang, J.B., Guada, J.A., 2001. Excretion of purine derivatives in cows: endogenous contribution and recovery of exogenous purine bases. Livest. Prod. Sci. 68, 243-250.

- Ørskov, E.R., Grubb, D.A., Wenham, G., Corrigall, W., 1979. The sustenance of growing and fatting ruminants by intragastric infusion of volatile fatty acid and protein. Br. J. Nutr. 41, 553-558.
- Pérez, J.F., Balcells, J., Cebrián, J.A., Martin-Orúe, S.M., 1998. Excretion of endogenous and exogenous purine derivatives in sheep: effect of increased concentrate intake. Br. J. Nutr. 79, 237-240.
- Pimpa, O., Liang, J.B., Balcells, J., Jelan, Z.A., Abdullah, N., 2003. Urinary purine derivative excretion in swamp buffaloes after duodenal purine base infusion. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 104, 191-199.
- Pimpa, O., Liang, J.B., Jelan, Z.A., Abdullah, N., 2001. Urinary excretion of duodenal purine derivatives in Kedah-Kelantan cattle. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 92, 203-214.
- Puchala, R., Kulasek, G.W., 1992. Estimation of microbial protein flow from the rumen of sheep using microbial nucleic acid and urinary excretion of purine derivatives. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 72, 821-830.
- Reynal, S.M., Broderick, G.A., Bearzi, C., 2005. Comparison of four markers for quantifying microbial protein flow from the rumen of lactating dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. 88, 4065-4082.
- Reynolds, C.K., Kristensen, N.B., 2008. Nitrogen recycling through the gut and the nitrogen economy of ruminants: An asynchronous symbiosis. J. Anim. Sci. 86, E293-E305.
- Shingfield, K.J., Offer, N.W., 1998. Evaluating of milk allantoin excretion as an index of microbial protein supply in lactating dairy cows. Anim. Sci. 67, 371-385.
- Siddons, R.C., Beever, D.E., Nolan, J.V., 1982. A comparison of methods for estimation of microbial nitrogen in duodenal digesta of sheep. Br. J. Nutr. 48, 377-389.
- Smith, R.H., McAllan, A.B., 1970. Nucleic acid metabolism in the ruminant. 2. Formation of microbial nucleic acid in the rumen in relation to the digestion of food nitrogen, and the fate of dietary nucleic acids. Br. J. Nutr. 24, 545-556.
- Stangassinger, M., Chen, X.B., Lindberg, J.E., Giesecke, D., 1995. Metabolism of purines in relation to microbial production. In: von Engelhardt, W., Leonhard-Marek, S., Breves, G., Giesecke, D., (Eds.), Ruminant Ohysiology: Digestion, Metabolism, Growth and Reproduction. Enke Verlag, Stuttgart, pp. 387-406.

- Stern, M.D., Varga, G.A., Clark, J.H., Firkins, J.L., Huber, J.T., Palmquist, 1994. Evaluation of chemical and physical properties of feeds that affect protein metabolism in the rumen. J. Dairy Sci. 77, 2762-2786.
- Strobel, H.J., Russell, J.B., 1986. Effect of pH and energy spilling on bacterial protein synthesis by carbohydrate- limited cultures of mixed rumen bacteria. J. Dairy Sci. 69, 2941-2947.
- Susmel, P., Spanghero, M., Stefanon, B., Mills, C.R., 1995. Nitrogen balance and partitioning of some nitrogen catabolites in milk and urine of lactating cows. Livest. Prod. Sci. 44, 207-219.
- Tamminga, S., 1992. Nutrition management of dairy cows as a contribution to pollution control. J. Dairy Sci. 75, 345-357.
- Tamminga, S., 1996. A review on environmental impacts of nutritional strategies in ruminants. J. Anim. Sci. 74, 3112-3124.
- Tas, B.M., Susenbeth, A., 2007. Urinary purine derivatives excretion as an indicator of in vivo microbial N flow in cattle: a review. Livest. Sci. 111, 181-192.
- Thomas, C., 2004. Feed into milk: A new applied feeding system for dairy cows. Nottingham University Press, Nottingham, United Kingdom.
- Titgemeyer, E.C., 1997. Design and interpretation of nutrient digestion studies. J. Anim. Sci. 75, 2235-2247.
- Topps, J.H., Elliott, R.C., 1965. Relationship between concentrations of ruminal nucleic acids and excretion of purine derivatives by sheep. Nature 205, 498-499.
- Vagnoni, D.B., Broderick, G.A., 1997. Effects of supplementation of energy or ruminally undegraded protein to lactating cows fed alfalfa hay or silage. J. Dairy Sci. 80, 1703-1712.
- Vagnoni, D.B., Broderick, G.A., Clayton, M.K., Hatfield, R.D., 1997. Excretion of purine derivatives by Holstein cows abomasally infused with incremental amounts of purines. J. Dairy Sci. 80, 1695-1702.
- Van Soest, P., 1982. Nutritional ecology of the ruminant. Cornell University Press, Portland, USA.

- Van Duinkerken, G., Blok, M.C., Bannink, A., Cone, J.W., Dijkstra, J., Van Vuuren, A.M., Tamminga, S., 2011. Update of the Dutch protein evaluation system for ruminants: the DVE/OEB2010 system. J. Agric. Sci. 149, 351-367.
- Verbic, J., Chen, X.B., Macleod, N.A., Ørskov, E.R., 1990. Excretion of purine derivatives by ruminants – effect of microbial nucleic acid infusion on purine derivative excretion by steers. J. Agric. Sci. 114, 243-248.
- Zinn, R.A., Owens, F.N., 1986. A rapid procedure for purine measurement and its use for estimating net ruminal protein synthesis. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 66, 157-166.

2 Response of urinary purine derivatives excretion to different levels of ruminal glucose infusion in heifers.

Uta Dickhoefer^{ab}, Sandra Ahnert^a, Hartwig Schoof^a, Niels Moritz^a, Andreas Susenbeth^a

^a Institute of Animal Nutrition and Physiology, Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel, 24118 Kiel, Germany.

^b Present address: Institute of Animal Production in the Tropics and Subtropics, University of Hohenheim, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany.

Published in Archives of Animal Nutrition:

Dickhoefer, U., Ahnert, S., Schoof, H., Moritz, N., Susenbeth, A., 2015. Response of urinary purine derivatives excretion to different levels of ruminal glucose infusion in heifers. Arch. Anim. Nutr. 69, 128-142.

2.1 Abstract

The study investigated the response of urinary purine derivatives (PD) excretion to increasing levels of intraruminal glucose infusion to evaluate how well this indicator reflects induced changes in microbial crude protein flow. Four rumen-cannulated heifers (482 \pm 25 kg body weight) were fed at maintenance energy level a basal diet (on fresh matter basis) of 4 kg/d hay, 1.5 kg/d concentrate and 60 g/d minerals in two equal meals. The trial comprised a control period (Control I) without glucose infusion followed by four consecutive periods in which all animals received 125 g, 250 g, 500 g, and 1000 g/d of glucose, respectively. For this, daily dosages of glucose and urea (90 g/d during all periods) were divided into three portions that were dissolved in water and directly administered into the rumen during morning and afternoon feedings and once during noon. After the highest glucose dosage, a second control period was carried out (Control II). Urinary PD excretion increased with glucose infusion of 125 g/d (71.4 mmol/d) and 1000 g/d (74.2 mmol/d) over the level at Control I (53.9 mmol/d (standard error of the mean (SEM) 3.4; $P \leq 0.012$). After withdrawing glucose infusion, PD excretion (79.0 mmol/d) did not return to Control I level (P=0.001). In contrast, fecal nitrogen (N) excretions linearly increased with incremental glucose infusion (P < 0.001) from 33.9 g/d at Control I to 39.7 g/d (SEM 0.5) at 1000 g/d glucose and were similar in Control I and II (P=0.086). The contradicting responses in the excretions of fecal N and urinary PD to increasing glucose infusions highlight the limited accuracy of the PD excretion as a non-invasive indicator when incremental dosages of rapidly fermentable carbohydrates are supplied.

2.2 Introduction

The microbial crude protein (MCP) synthesised in the forestomach system of ruminants accounts for an average 59 % of the non-ammonia nitrogen (N) entering the small intestine (reviewed by Clark et al., 1992), thus contributing to more than half of the essential amino acids supply to the host animal. The quantification of duodenal MCP flow is thus of great importance, for example, in determining the requirements of high producing ruminants for rumen undegradable feed protein. Moreover, profound understanding of the factors influencing ruminal MCP synthesis (i.e. availability of N and energy, rumen pH, rumen outflow rate, anti-nutritive factors, etc.) is prerequisite. To measure MCP flow under experimental conditions, *in vivo* studies rely on the use of double-cannulated animals and inert marker techniques that are difficult to apply, costly, time-consuming, and yield variable

results (Dewhurst et al., 2000). Non-invasive indicators in excreta and/or products, however, may allow for an estimation of duodenal MCP flow at the level of individual animals even under on-farm conditions. For decades, the excretion of purine derivatives (PD) via the urine of ruminants has been used as a microbial marker for post-ruminal MCP flow (Topps and Elliott, 1965; Verbic et al., 1990; Chen and Ørskov, 2003). The underlying assumptions are that (i) the majority of nucleic acids reaching the duodenum are of microbial origin because dietary nucleic acids are extensively degraded in the rumen (McAllan, 1982), (ii) a great proportion of the purine bases in microbial nucleic acids are absorbed and (iii) their derivatives are mainly excreted via the urine of the host animal (Verbic et al., 1990). Several studies have evaluated and emphasized the validity of this method, and numerous studies have used this marker to investigate the effects of diets that differ considerably in their nutritional value due to the use of various concentrate feeds (Chen et al., 1992; Chamberlain et al., 1993), feed intake levels (González-Ronquillo et al., 2004), and/or forage to concentrate ratios (Moorby et al., 2006). However, to our knowledge, few studies so far exist that evaluate the sensitivity of this indicator to reflect the effects of small increments in readily fermentable carbohydrates on urinary PD excretion.

Hence, the present study analyzes the response of urinary PD excretion to incremental amounts of intraruminally infused glucose to evaluate whether and how this non-invasive indicator will reflect the stimulated ruminal MCP synthesis. Glucose was chosen as a readily available energy source because it is readily and directly available for microbes and likely to be completely fermented in the rumen. Therefore, it was hypothesized (i) that urinary PD excretion linearly increases with increasing glucose dosages due to an increase in MCP flow at the duodenum and (ii) that even minor changes in glucose infusion are detectable with this microbial marker.

2.3 Material and Methods

2.3.1 Animals and feeding

A pre-trial and a main trial were conducted using three and four rumen-cannulated heifers (Jersey x German Black Pied Lowland), respectively. The pre-trial was performed to determine the time required to achieve a constant level of PD excretion after the onset of glucose and urea infusion to identify the required duration of the adaptation period to glucose dosing during the main trial. The animals were fully grown, non-pregnant, and were kept in a tie stall with free access to fresh drinking water. In both, the pre-trial and the main trial, the

basal diet consisted of 4 kg/d of grass hay, 1.5 kg/d of concentrate feed, and 60 g/d of a mineral mixture (on fresh matter (FM) basis). It was offered in two equal meals at 07:30 h and 16:30 h and covered the animals' metabolizable energy (ME) and utilizable crude protein (uCP) requirements for maintenance (GfE, 2001). The composition of the concentrate was as follows (on FM basis): rye grain (23.2 %), rapeseed meal (21.0 %), corn gluten (18.5 %), barley middlings (15.0 %), rye bran (12.0 %), beet pulp (4.5 %), corn grain (4.0 %), and calcium carbonate (1.1 %). Prior to each trial, the grass hay was chopped (5–10 cm length) and homogenized. Dry matter (DM) contents of the grass hay and concentrate feed were determined to calculate DM intake. Subsequently, rations for every meal and animal were weighed and stored until feeding. Chemical compositions of the hay and concentrate feeds are given in Table 1. During both trials, all animals completely consumed their diets, so that no feed refusals occurred.

Table 1 Chemical composition of the grass hay and the concentrate feed used in the basal diets of the pre-trial (n=3) and main trial (n=6; arithmetic means \pm standard deviations).

		Pre-trial		Main trial	
		Hay	Concentrate	Hay	Concentrate
DM	[% FM]	$92.8 ~\pm~ 0.4$	$89.6~\pm~0.5$	$90.5 ~\pm~ 0.5$	$87.7 ~\pm~ 0.5$
OM	[% DM]	$95.0~\pm~0.3$	$93.2 ~\pm~ 0.3$	$94.6~\pm~0.3$	$93.2 ~\pm~ 0.1$
СР		7.4 ± 0.1	17.7 ± 0.1	6.1 ± 0.8	18.5 ± 0.1
CL		1.2 ± 0.1	3.2 ± 0.2	$0.8~\pm~0.2$	3.2 ± 0.1
CF		$34.3~\pm~0.6$	8.2 ± 0.1	$37.1 ~\pm~ 0.7$	7.5 ± 0.1
NDF		$70.7 ~\pm~ 0.8$	$27.9~\pm~0.7$	$73.5~\pm~1.0$	$25.9~\pm~0.8$
ADF		$39.7 ~\pm~ 0.7$	11.5 ± 0.4	$46.2 ~\pm~ 1.4$	$10.6~\pm~0.9$
ADL		6.1 ± 0.3	3.7 ± 0.2	6.6 ± 0.2	$2.7~\pm~0.1$
Starch		n.d.	$26.9~\pm~0.9$	n.d.	$31.7 ~\pm~ 1.3$
ME	[MJ/kg DM]	$8.0~\pm~0.1$	12.5 ± 0.2	7.3 ± 0.2	$12.3~\pm~0.2$
IvdOM	[%]	57.8 ± 0.4	83.8 ± 1.0	54.1 ± 1.6	82.8 ± 1.2

DM, dry matter; FM, fresh matter; OM, organic matter; CP, crude protein; CL, crude lipid; CF, crude fiber; NDF, neutral detergent fiber (inclusive residual ash); ADF, acid detergent fiber (inclusive residual ash); ADL, acid detergent lignin; n.d., not determined; ME, metabolizable energy; IvdOM, *in vitro*-digestibility of organic matter.

2.3.2 Experimental designs and procedures

The pre-trial lasted for 37 d and comprised a 10 d-adaptation period to the basal diet followed by 27 d of complete urine and feces collection. The latter period consisted of two phases.

Initially, the animals were offered the basal diet during days 11–20 to determine urinary PD excretion without glucose infusion. During days 21–37, they additionally received 1000 g/d glucose and 90 g/d urea. Urea was administered to assure a positive ruminal N balance (GfE, 2001) when glucose were administered at 1000 g/d. Daily supply of N from the basal diet and basal diet plus urea was 80 and 122 g N, respectively. Glucose and urea dosages were divided into two equal portions. Each portion was diluted in 500 ml lukewarm water and administered directly into the rumen via the cannulae during morning and evening feeding, respectively. The animals were weighed on days 9, 25, and 37. Their mean body weight (BW) was 520 kg (standard deviation 15 kg; n=3).

The main trial consisted of six periods starting with a control period (Control I) without glucose infusion followed by four consecutive periods during which all animals simultaneously received 125 g (G_{125}), 250 g (G_{250}), 500 g (G_{500}), and 1000 g/d (G_{1000}) of glucose and a second control period (Control II). Each period (except Control II) lasted for 11 d including 4 d of adaptation and 7 d of total urine and feces collection. The adaptation to glucose infusion was restricted to 4 d because urinary PD excretion reached a new level after 4 d of glucose dosing in the pre-trial (see results section). Glucose was administered by dividing the daily dose into three portions (25, 50, and 25 % of the total amount), each of which was dissolved in 500 ml of lukewarm water and administered directly into the rumen via the cannulae at 07:30 h (morning feeding), 12:30 h, and 16:30 h (afternoon feeding), respectively. Subsequent to G₁₀₀₀, glucose dosing was stopped and after 4 d of adaptation, total urine and feces were collected again for 5 d (Control II) to test whether and how fast urinary PD excretion returned to the same level as that in Control I. During the whole trial, the animals received 90 g/d of urea in addition to the basal diet to assure a positive ruminal N balance (GfE, 2001) at all glucose dosages and to investigate the sole effects of glucose on N partitioning at constant N intake. Urea was diluted and administered in three portions (30 g each) together with the glucose during G₁₂₅ to G₁₀₀₀, and diluted in 100 ml of water during the two control periods. Hence, daily intake of N (including urea-N) was constant across all experimental periods at 114 g. The animals were weighed every two weeks. Their mean BW was 482 (standard deviation 25 kg; n=4) and was constant for all animals throughout the trial. Individual water intake was recorded twice a day using water meters attached to the drinking troughs.

2.3.3 Sample collection and preparation

One sample each of the grass hay (~ 2 kg FM) and the concentrate feed (~ 750 g FM) was collected on three occasions during the pre-trial and once during each period in the main trial and ground to pass through a 1 mm-screen (ZM1, Retsch mill, Germany). Subsequently, three subsamples (~ 50 g each) of each sample were taken for chemical analysis. Feces excreted by each heifer were manually collected from rubber mats placed behind the animals and weighed at every feeding. For urine collection, harnesses were attached to the animals' vulva and furnished with a hose to drain the urine directly into canisters. The latter were filled with about 150 ml of 20 % (v/v) sulphuric acid to reduce pH to < 3. Urine weight and volume were determined at every feeding. In both trials, total urine collected from each animal between two subsequent morning feedings were pooled and mixed.

In the pre-trial, three subsamples (500 ml each) of the pooled urine and feces (500 g each) of each animal were taken every day. For analyses of allantoin and uric acid, 500 ml of the pooled urine were filtered (Macherey-Nagel, average pore size 4–12 μ m). Of this filtrate, 10 ml were diluted with distilled water (1:5, v/v) and six aliquots (5 ml each) of the diluted filtrate were taken. Three aliquots each were taken for measurement of concentrations of allantoin and uric acid in single determination (see next section).

In the main trial, again 500 ml of the pooled urine excreted between two subsequent morning feedings were filtered, 50 ml of the filtrate diluted with distilled water (1:5, v/v), and two aliquots of 15 ml each were obtained for PD analysis every day. The aliquots collected on days 1–2, 3–5, and 6–7, respectively (except for Control II), were combined to three pooled samples (30 ml each) prior to analysis, in which the amount of urine taken from each aliquot corresponded to the urine volume of the respective day. The remaining pooled urine and feces collected every day were stored frozen until the end of every sampling period (except for Control II). Then, urine and feces were thawed, homogenized, and three subsamples each of urine (500 ml each) and feces (500 g each) were taken. During Control II, pooled urine and feces were homogenized and subsamples taken and analyzed every day according to the procedure in the pre-trial. Samples from animals on days when considerable urine losses occurred were excluded from pooling and the data analysis (27 of a total of 164 cases (= 6 periods * 7 d (5 d in Control II) * 4 animals)). All samples and aliquots collected during the pre-trial and main trial were stored at -20°C until analysis.

2.3.4 Chemical analyses

In both trials, analyses for proximate composition as well as fiber fractions, in vitrodigestibility, and ME contents (in feed samples only) were carried out in two of the three feed, urine, and feces subsamples. If the results for these two subsamples deviated from the mean by > 5 % of the mean value, the third subsample was additionally analyzed. Concentrations of DM, crude ash, crude lipid, and crude fiber of feed and feces (DM and crude ash only) were determined in duplicate according to Naumann and Bassler (1997). Concentrations of neutral detergent fiber (NDF), acid detergent fiber (ADF), both with residual ash, and acid detergent lignin in feed were analyzed in duplicate using an Ankom²⁰⁰ Fiber Analyzer (Ankom Technology, Macedon NY, USA) according to procedures described by Van Soest et al. (1991). A heat-stable α -amylase was used in the NDF procedure. The *in vitro*-digestibility of organic matter (OM) and ME concentrations of the feed were estimated from gas production during in vitro-incubations according to Menke and Steingass (1987). For this, three replicates of each feed subsample were incubated on two days each. Starch concentrations of the concentrate feeds were determined in triplicate according to Brandt et al. (1987) after enzymatic oxidation by glucose oxidase using Chinonimin as colorimetric indicator. In the pre-trial, N concentrations of feed, feces, and urine were analyzed in triplicate using a TruSpec[®]N analyzer (LECO Corporation, St. Joseph MI, USA). In the main trial, subsamples were analyzed by the Kjeldahl procedure in a single determination (Naumann and Bassler, 1997). Concentrations of crude protein (CP) were calculated from mean N concentrations of two or three subsamples using a conversion factor of CP = N * 6.25.

For PD analysis, only concentrations (mmol/l) of allantoin and uric acid were determined following the procedures described by Chen et al. (1993) and Balcells et al. (1992), respectively, because xanthine and hypoxanthine are reported to be almost absent in cattle urine (Verbic et al., 1990; Martín-Orúe et al., 2000; González-Ronquillo et al., 2004). For this, the diluted urine samples (1:5) were further diluted with distilled water to 1:50 for allantoin and to 1:20 for uric acid analysis. The PD analyses were conducted using high-performance reversed-phase liquid chromatography (JASCO[®] HSS-1500, Groß-Umstadt, Germany; column: Kromasil C18, 5µm, 250 * 4.0 mm) followed by peak area analysis with BORWINTM chromatography software. Allantoin and uric acid concentrations were determined in triplicate and duplicate in the pre-trial and main trial, respectively. Analyses were repeated, if the deviation between individual determinations and their mean exceeded 6 % of the mean concentrations. Daily urinary allantoin and uric acid excretions (mmol/d)

were calculated by multiplying the molar concentrations (mmol/l) by the respective urine volume (l/d). Total urinary PD excretion was calculated as the sum of daily allantoin and uric acid excretions.

2.3.5 Calculations and statistical analyses

Apparent total tract DM and OM digestibilities were calculated without considering daily glucose dosage as intake because glucose was assumed to be completely digestible. Since increasing glucose infusions were expected to increase rumen microbial growth and fecal excretions of microbial N, apparent total tract digestibility of CP-free organic matter (CPFOM) was additionally calculated as an indicator for the effects of glucose on the total tract digestibility of carbohydrates in the basal diet:

CPFOM digestibility =

(1)

where intakes and fecal excretions of OM and CP are expressed in g/d.

All statistical analyses were conducted using the software R version 3.1.0 (the R foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria). To determine the number of days after the onset of glucose and urea infusion until urinary PD excretion reached a new plateau level, data were subjected to a regression analysis (Equation 2). The model comprised the following parameters to identify mean PD excretion (mmol/d) without (*a*, days 11–20) and with infusion of glucose and urea (days 21–37), the slope *s* of the increase in PD excretion after onset of glucose and urea infusion at day 21 (mmol/d), and the breakpoint (x_1 , in d) at which urinary PD excretion reached a new plateau level.

$$f(t) = \begin{cases} a & t < 21 \\ a + s(t - 21) & \text{, if } 21 \le t < x_1 \\ a + s(x_1 - 21) & x_1 \le t \end{cases}$$
(2)

a, basal PD excretion; *s*, slope of the increase in PD excretion with glucose and urea infusion; x_1 , breakpoint (d); *t*, time (d).

According to the results of this regression analysis, the breakpoint x_1 was at day 23.6 (see Results section). To determine the effects of the glucose and urea infusion in the pre-trial, arithmetic means of all measured parameters were calculated for each animal for days 11–20 without and for days 25–34 with glucose and urea infusion, respectively. Similarly, PD excretion during Control II of the main trial did not decrease even after 9 d without glucose infusion, so that arithmetic means for all parameters were calculated across the five sampling days.

To identify treatment effects, data of both trials were then analyzed by mixed model procedure (lme) and analysis of variance. The model included treatment as fixed effect and animal as random factor. An autoregressive correlation structure was chosen. Least squares means and standard errors of the means (SEM) were calculated for all measured and calculated parameters. Significant differences (P<0.05) between least squares means were determined by the Tukey-Kramer test. Additionally, data of the main trial were used to determine the linear relationships between glucose dosage (independent variable; g/d) and measured and calculated parameters (dependent variables), omitting data of Control II (see Results section).

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Pre-trial

During both trials, all animals remained in good health. In the pre-trial, the breakpoint x_1 was at day 23.6 (standard error 1.12; P<0.001) according to the regression analysis (Figure 3). Hence, PD excretion reached a new plateau level about 4 d after the onset of glucose and urea infusion at day 21. Comparing the two phases (without (days 11–20) versus with glucose and urea infusion (days 25–34)), mean daily urine volumes increased with glucose and urea infusion from 6.8 l to 9.1 l (SEM 0.86; P=0.037), most likely due to the increased intake of N (Bannink et al., 1999; Table 2). Mean daily PD excretion via urine increased by 29 mmol/d from 70.8 mmol/d to 99.8 mmol/d (SEM 2.36; P=0.006) with glucose and urea infusions. Irrespective of the glucose and urea dosage, allantoin accounted for 0.90 (SEM 0.01) of total urinary PD concentrations (P=0.297).



Figure 3 Mean daily urinary purine derivatives (PD) excretion in heifers (n=3) during the pretrial. The continuous line represents the estimated regression equation, and the dotted line marks the onset of intraruminal infusion of glucose (1000 g/d) and urea (90 g/d) at day 21.

Fecal and urinary N excretions increased with glucose and urea infusion, whereas the absolute increases were greater for urinary N (31 g/d; P=0.010) than fecal N excretion (7 g/d; P=0.005). While apparent total tract digestibilities of DM, OM, and CPFOM were lower with than without infusion ($P \le 0.047$), apparent CP digestibility increased when glucose and urea were administered (P=0.004).
Parameter		Basal	With infusion	SEM	P-Value
PD excretion	[mmol/d]				
Allantoin		64.0	89.8	2.91	0.010
Uric acid		6.7	10.0	0.71	0.013
Total PD		70.8	99.8	2.36	0.006
N intake	[g/d]	79.7	121.6		
N excretion	[g/d]				
Fecal N		29.8	37.1	1.04	0.005
Urinary N		47.5	78.5	1.76	0.010
Total N		76.3	115.6	1.96	0.009
Apparent total tract dig	estibility				
\mathbf{DM}^{a}		0.657	0.618	0.51	0.047
OM ^a		0.674	0.634	0.47	0.045
CPFOM ^b		0.687	0.622	0.59	0.022
СР		0.626	0.695	1.04	0.004

Table 2 Urinary purine derivatives (PD) excretion, intake and excretion of nitrogen (N), and apparent total tract nutrient digestibilities in heifers (n=3) without (basal) and with 1000 g/d glucose and 90 g/d urea infusion during the pre-trial (least squares means and standard errors of the means (SEM)).

DM, dry matter; OM, organic matter; CPFOM, crude-protein-free organic matter; CP, crude protein.

^aCalculated without glucose intake.

^b Calculated by subtracting CP (N*6.25) intake and excretion from intake and fecal excretion of OM, respectively.

2.4.2 Main trial

Daily urine volumes ranged between 6.3 l and 24.8 l at minimum and maximum water intakes of 11.7 l/d to 34.4 l/d, respectively. Neither parameter was affected by glucose infusion level (Table 3; $P \ge 0.109$). Without glucose infusion, mean PD excretion at Control I was lower than the PD excretion in the pre-trial when animals were fed on the basal diet. However, the relative increase with 1000 g/d of glucose compared to urinary PD excretion without glucose infusion was similar in the pre-trial and main trial (29.1 % and 27.4 %, respectively). According to linear regression analysis, the relationship between glucose dosage and urinary PD excretion was significant at P=0.032. However, as illustrated in Figure 4, a linear model would underestimate PD excretion at G₁₂₅, while overestimating PD excretion at highest glucose dosages. Hence, the relationship between glucose dosage and urinary PD excretion was rather non-linear. Compared with Control I, mean PD excretions were higher at G_{125} , G_{1000} , and Control II ($P \le 0.011$). The greatest increase in urinary PD excretion was observed at G_{125} with 17.5 mmol/d above the Control I level (P=0.012). At Control II, PD excretion did not decline to the level of Control I (P=0.001). The average proportion of allantoin in the total PD was 0.89 (SEM 0.01; P < 0.001) which was similar to that in the pre-trial. The proportion was higher at G_{125} than at Control I, G_{250} , and G_{500} ($P \le 0.008$).

ntrol I and II) and) during the main	
glucose infusion (Cc	and 1000 g/d (G ₁₀₀₀	
ifers (n=4) without g	250), 500 g/d (G ₅₀₀),	uns (SEM)).
(PD) excretion in he	(G ₁₂₅), 250 g/d (G ₂	rrd errors of the mea
purine derivatives (glucose at 125 g/d	es means and standa
Table 3 Urinary	with infusion of	trial (least square

Parameter		Control I	G_{125}	G_{250}	G_{500}	G_{1000}	Control II	SEM	<i>P</i> -value
Water intake	[1/d]	20.9	23.2	21.1	17.2	16.8	15.3	2.69	0.109
Urine excretion	[1/d]	11.3	15.2	13.1	8.8	9.4	9.4	2.17	0.189
PD excretion	[mmol/d]								
Allantoin		47.7 ^A	64.7 ^B	58.5 ^{AB}	58.0 ^{AB}	66.2 ^B	70.2 ^B	2.96	0.001
Uric acid		6.2 ^A	6.7 ^{AB}	8.5 ^B	7.6 ^{AB}	7.9 ^{AB}	8.7 ^B	0.75	0.016
Total PD		53.9 ^A	71.4 ^B	67.0 ^{AB}	65.5 ^{AB}	74.2 ^B	79.0 ^B	3.42	0.002
Allantoin : total PD		0.886 ^{AB}	0.905 ^c	0.875 ^A	0.885 ^{AB}	0.893 ^{BC}	0.890 ^{ABC}	0.008	<0.001
^{A,B,C} Means within the	e same rov	v with diffe	rent supers	cripts diffe	r at P<0.05				

Chapter 2 - Effect of glucose infusion



Figure 4 Urinary purine derivatives (PD) excretion in heifers (n=4) in response to incremental intraruminal glucose infusion during the main trial.

Fecal N excretions ranged between 31.2 g/d and 40.5 g/d and linearly increased with increasing glucose infusion (P<0.001) due to increasing fecal DM excretion (P=0.021; Table 4) and N concentrations in feces (P<0.001). Accordingly, a linear decrease with increasing glucose infusion was observed for apparent total tract digestibility of CP (P<0.001). At Control II, fecal N excretion returned to the level measured at Control I. Hence, data for this period were omitted from regression analyses. Apparent total tract digestibilities of DM and OM were lower at G₅₀₀ than at Control II (P=0.018). Glucose infusion did not affect apparent total tract digestibility of CPFOM (P=0.095).

Table 4 Nitrogen (N) excretion and apparent total tract nutrient digestibilities in heifers (n=4) without glucose infusion (Control I and II) and with infusion of glucose at 125 g/d (G_{125}), 250 g/d (G_{250}), 500 g/d (G_{500}), and 1000 g/d (G_{1000}) during the main trial (least squares means and standard errors of the means (SEM)).

Parameter		Control I	G_{125}	G_{250}	G_{500}	G_{1000}	Control II	SEM	<i>P</i> -value
N concentration									
Fecal N	[% DM]	1.75 ^{AB}	1.70 ^A	1.76 ^A	1.82 ^B	1.97 ^C	1.67 ^A	0.03	<0.001
Urinary N	[%]	0.56	0.46	0.55	0.69	0.69	0.75	0.11	0.118
N excretion ^a	[g/d]								
Fecal N		33.9 ^{AB}	33.0 ^{AB}	34.8 ^B	37.2 ^C	39.7 ^D	31.8 ^A	0.50	<0.001
Urinary N		61.0	62.4	67.5	60.8	62.5	69.69	4.16	0.580
Total N		94.9	95.3	102.3	98.2	102.2	101.5	4.06	0.513
N-retention	[b/d]	19.1	18.7	11.7	15.8	11.8	12.5	4.06	0.513
Fecal N/urine N		0.61	0.57	0.54	0.66	0.66	0.47	0.05	0.161
Fecal excretion	[g/d]								
DM		1995 ^{AB}	1992 ^{AB}	2029 ^{AB}	2099 ^B	2061 ^{AB}	1960 ^A	30.32	0.021
MO		1680 ^{AB}	1678 ^{AB}	1709 ^{AB}	1776 ^B	1745 ^{AB}	1661 ^A	24.02	0.015
To he continued									

Parameter	Control I	G ₁₂₅	G_{250}	G ₅₀₀	G_{1000}	Control II	SEM	<i>P</i> -value
Apparent total tract digestib	ility coefficie	ent						
DM^{b}	0.602 ^{AB}	0.603 ^{AB}	0.596 ^{AB}	0.581 ^A	0.589 ^{AB}	0.609 ^B	0.01	0.021
OM^b	0.631 ^{AB}	0.632 ^{AB}	0.625 ^{AB}	0.610 ^A	0.617 ^{AB}	0.636 ^B	0.01	0.015
CPFOM ^c	0.618	0.617	0.612	0.599	0.611	0.620	0.01	0.095
CP	0.703 ^{CD}	0.711 ^{CD}	0.695 ^C	0.674^{B}	0.652 ^A	0.721 ^D	0.00	<0.001
A,B,C,D Means within the same	e row with d	ifferent supe	rscripts diffe	r at P<0.05				

DM, dry matter; OM, organic matter; CPFOM, crude-protein-free organic matter; CP, crude protein.

^a N intake was 114 g/d. ^bCalculated without glucose intakes.

^c Calculated by subtracting CP (N * 6.25) intake and excretion from intake and fecal excretion of organic matter, respectively.

2.5 Discussion

2.5.1 Urinary purine derivatives excretion level

Urinary PD excretions of heifers when they did not receive any glucose infusion were higher in the pre-trial than in the main trial, although the same animals and diets of similar composition were used. This difference was most likely due to small differences in dietary ME concentrations and hence, animals' ME intakes (46.5 and 42.3 MJ/d in the pre-trial and main trial, respectively). According to the equations of Chen and Ørskov (2003), a urinary PD excretion of 120 mmol/d¹ is expected during Control I which is more than twice as high as the measured PD excretion during this period. Similarly low urinary PD excretions were described by Wang et al. (2009) in cattle of comparable BW fed at maintenance energy level. Estimated endogenous PD excretion of 40 mmol/d would already account for 74 % of the measured PD excretion (53.9 mmol/d) during Control I, suggesting that endogenous PD excretion in urine proposed by Chen and Ørskov (2003) overestimates that of heifers in our study. Furthermore, overestimation of the efficiency of MCP synthesis, the purine content in microbial mass, and/or the proportion of the microbial purines that are excreted via the urine might explain the discrepancy between expected and measured PD (see also section 2.5.2).

2.5.2 Effect of glucose infusion on urinary purine derivatives excretion

Intraruminal glucose infusion increased urinary PD excretion. The absolute increase in urinary PD excretion with infusion of 1000 g/d of glucose was 29.0 mmol and 20.3 mmol/d during the pre-trial and main trial, respectively. These values are similar or only slightly lower than the expected increase of 27 mmol/d which was calculated using the equations of Chen and Ørskov (2003) assuming a ME content of glucose of 14 MJ/kg and the efficiency of MCP synthesis of 10.1 g/MJ ME intake (GfE, 2001). Several studies have reported a positive linear increase in urinary PD excretion with increasing intake of digestible OM (Lindberg, 1985; Han et al., 1992) or energy (Giesecke et al., 1994; Moorby et al., 2006). Moreover, González-Ronquillo et al. (2004) found that PD excretion in urine decreased with declining feed intake. Nevertheless, PD excretion did not linearly increase with incremental glucose infusion.

¹ Theoretical basis of the calculation of urinary PD excretion: 1) efficiency of MCP synthesis = 10.1 g MCP/MJ ME intake (GfE, 2001); 2) proportion of N in purines = 0.116 g/g of microbial N; 3) praecaecal digestibility of MCP = 0.83; 4) renal clearance rate of absorbed PD = 0.85; 4) endogenous PD excretion in cattle = 0.385 mmol/kg^{0.75} BW (Chen and Ørskov, 2003).

Possible reasons for the non-linear response in PD excretion to increasing glucose infusion are discussed in the following and might be related to:

- (1) the experimental design and methodology,
- (2) changes in the apparent digestibility of the basal diet,
- (3) treatment effects on the efficiency of MCP synthesis, and
- (4) changes in the urinary recovery of absorbed PD, endogenous PD excretion, praecaecal digestibility of microbial nucleic acids, and purine concentration in microbial matter, all of which are assumed to be constant and independent of diet (Chen and Ørskov, 2003).

In the main trial, all animals simultaneously received the same amount of glucose in every period with 4 d of adaptation. We believe that this experimental design did not affect the relationship between PD excretion and level of glucose infusion because fully grown heifers were used whose feed intake was constant across all periods and only covered their ME and uCP requirements for maintenance. Moreover, the animals were kept in a closed building and were thus unaffected by seasonal changes in climatic conditions. Urinary PD excretion reached a constant level within 4 d after onset of glucose infusion during the pre-trial, suggesting that it had likely stabilized over the same time span in the main trial when increments in glucose dosages were even smaller. Glucose and urea are rapidly degradable carbohydrate and N sources, respectively, and were administered to the solid phase of rumen contents in two (pre-trial) and three (main trial) portions throughout the day. It therefore appears unlikely that considerable proportions of glucose and urea reached the duodenum and digested post-ruminally. The ruminal N balance (GfE, 2001) was close to 0 at G₁₀₀₀, if an efficiency of MCP synthesis of 10.1 g/MJ ME intake and an approximate ME content of glucose of 14 MJ/kg are assumed, indicating that N availability was not limiting microbial growth at any glucose dosage level. Hence, we conclude that the methodological factors mentioned above do not explain the non-linear effects of glucose infusion on urinary PD excretion.

Any effects of glucose infusion on apparent total tract OM digestibility would have altered energy supply to rumen microbes and therefore urinary PD excretion. Apparent total tract digestibility of CPFOM was not affected by glucose infusion in the main trial, indicating that the extent of fermentation of the (structural) carbohydrate fraction of the basal diet was similar across all infusion levels. Furthermore, during health monitoring rumen pH was measured in two animals at G_{1000} (data not shown) which consistently stayed above 6.2, suggesting that activity of cellulolytic microbes was not hampered by a drop in pH (Grant and Mertens, 1992). Hence, differences in OM digestibility of the basal diet and their effects on PD excretion are precluded.

Glucose infusion might have affected the efficiency of MCP synthesis. Although liquidassociated microbes have higher maintenance energy requirements than particle-associated microbes (Russell et al., 1992), the efficiency of MCP synthesis is higher in diets that favour the proliferation of liquid-associated microbes due to higher rumen outflow rates of the liquid phase (Clark et al., 1992; Rodríguez et al., 2000). Hence, an enhanced efficiency of MCP synthesis due to the supply of a readily fermentable carbohydrate compared to Control I may explain the disproportionately high response of urinary PD excretion at low glucose dosages.

Urinary recovery of absorbed PD is relatively constant with a mean recovery of 0.85 for cattle (Verbic et al., 1990; Chen and Ørskov, 2003). Urinary excretion of endogenous PD from nucleic acid degradation in animal tissue depends on the physiological conditions (Laurent and Vignon, 1983). Nevertheless, although energy intake increased as a result of the glucose infusions, profound variations in their physiological status of our experimental animals and thus endogenous PD excretion appear unlikely. Shifts in the proportion of protozoa and grampositive or gram-negative bacteria in the post-ruminal MCP flow might have affected praecaecal digestibility of microbial nucleic acids because true digestibility is higher for protozoa (0.87-0.91) than for bacteria (0.74-0.79; Owens and Zinn, 1988). However, protozoa are selectively retained within the rumen (Punia et al., 1992), contribute only 11 % to the abomasal digesta CP flow (Shabi et al., 2000), and their total nucleic acid content is only slightly higher than that of bacteria (6.8 mg versus 6.1 mg/100 mg; Czerkawski, 1976). Moreover, although gram-positive bacteria such as Streptococcus bovis likely proliferated in response to glucose infusion (Russell and Hino, 1985) and praecaecal digestibility of their protein is lower than that of gram-negative bacteria (Wallace, 1983), the effects of this proliferation on praecaecal MCP digestibility from mixed microbial matter are considered to be small (Wallace, 1983).

Several studies have shown that the ratios of purine-N to total-N in (mixed) rumen microbial matter differ from the constant ratio of 0.116 proposed by Chen and Ørskov (2003) and vary between 0.080 and 0.120 (Dewhurst, 1989; cited in Dewhurst et al., 2000). They are higher in

bacteria than in protozoa (Firkins et al., 1987) and in liquid- than in particle-associated microbes (Martín-Orúe et al., 2000; Rodríguez et al., 2000). Moreover, ratios increase with higher microbial growth (Bates et al., 1985) and rumen outflow rates (Rodríguez et al., 2000) and are higher with concentrate than with roughage feeding (Pérez et al., 1998). Purine-N to total-N ratio in microbial matter in our study might have increased with glucose infusion due to enhanced growth rates and/or a shift towards a greater proportion of liquid-associated microbes. For instance, assuming only a slightly higher purine-N concentration in microbial matter of 0.120 g /g MCP (instead of 0.116; Chen and Ørskov, 2003) would result in a lower urinary PD excretion estimated from ME intake at G_{125} of 72 mmol/d, which equals the measured PD excretion at this glucose dosage level (71.4 mmol/d). Hence, a change in purine concentration in microbial matter is most likely the main reason for the pronounced increase in the urinary PD excretion at G_{125} compared to Control I.

2.5.3 Fecal nitrogen excretion

In both trials, fecal N excretion increased with glucose and urea infusion which in turn reduced apparent total tract DM, OM, and CP digestibilities in the main trial, when urea was also administered during the control periods. Although changes in the proportion of different N fractions in feces towards a lower proportion of microbial N might hamper the sensitivity of this indicator, these effects are most likely due to a greater synthesis and thus fecal excretion of MCP (Kebreab et al., 2002). Additionally, a lower praecaecal MCP digestibility due to shifts towards microbial species and/or groups that are more resistant to praecaecal digestion (Wallace, 1983) in response to glucose infusion might have contributed to higher fecal N excretions with increasing glucose dosages (see section above). In contrast to urinary PD, the increase in fecal N excretion was linear which supports the assumption that changes occurred in the ratio between purine-N to total-N in microbial mass at low glucose dosages.

2.5.4 Purine derivatives excretion at Control II

Urinary PD excretion during Control II remained at the level measured during G_{1000} and was therefore higher than during Control I. In contrast, fecal N excretion during Control II returned to almost the same level as that of Control I, which suggests that fecal excretion of microbial N decreased rapidly after the end of glucose infusion. Similarly, a study conducted by Grubb and Dehority (1975) indicated that bacterial numbers (in colony forming units per g of rumen contents) had still not stabilized after a diet change from a 100 % hay to 60 % cracked corn and 40 % hay diet after 14 d, even though the apparent total tract digestibility of DM and cellulose adjusted to the new diet after 5 d within the same experiment (Potter and Dehority, 1973). During Control II, shifts in the rumen microbial consortium resulting in a higher concentration of purines in the microbial matter after the end of glucose infusion may have taken longer than the 9 d of the adaptation and sampling owing to differences in the lag phases of the microbial species involved. This shift in lag phases might provide one explanation for the different results observed for fecal N and urinary PD excretion.

2.6 Conclusions

The present results have clearly shown that the provision of incremental amounts of readily fermentable carbohydrates to ruminants does not result in a linear increase in urinary PD excretion and that the response may differ depending on the dietary treatment (i.e. increase or decrease of fermentable carbohydrate supply). Moreover, shifts in the composition of the rumen microbial consortium towards lower or higher purine concentrations in microbial matter appear to be the main reason for these unexpected results and considerably reduce the accuracy and sensitivity of the urinary PD excretion as a non-invasive indicator.

2.7 References

- Balcells, J., Guada, J.A., Peiró, J.M., Parker, D.S., 1992. Simultaneous determination of allantoin and oxypurines in biological fluids by high-performance liquid chromatography. J. Chromatogr. 575, 153-157.
- Bannink, A., Valk, H., Van Vuuren, A.M., 1999. Intake and excretion of sodium, potassium, and nitrogen and the effects on urine production by lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 82, 1008-1018.
- Bates, D.B., Gillett, J.A., Barao, S.A., Bergen, W.G., 1985. The effect of specific growth rate and stage of growth on nucleic acid-protein values of pure cultures and mixed ruminal bacteria. J. Anim. Sci. 61, 713-724.
- Brandt, M., Schuldt, A., Mannerkorpi, P., Vearasilp, T., 1987. Zur enzymatischen Stärkebestimmung im Darminhalt und Kot von Kühen mithitzestabiler Amylase. Arch. Anim. Nutr. 37, 455.
- Chamberlain, D.G., Robertson, S., Choung, J.J., 1993. Sugars versus starch as supplements to grass silage: effects on ruminal fermentation and the supply of microbial protein to the small intestine, estimated from the urinary excretion of purine derivatives in sheep. J. Sci. Food Agric. 63, 189-194.

- Chen, X.B., Abdulrazak, S.A., Shand, W.J., Ørskov, E.R., 1992. The effect of supplementing straw with barley or unmolassed sugar-beet pulp on microbial protein supply in sheep estimated from urinary purine derivative excretion. Anim. Prod. 55, 413-417.
- Chen, X.B., Kyle, D.J., Ørskov, E.R, 1993. Measurement of allantoin in urine and plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography with pre-column derivatization. J. Chromatogr. 617, 241-247.
- Chen, X.B., Ørskov, E.R., 2003. Research on urinary excretion of purine derivatives in ruminants: past, present, and future. International Feed Resources Unit, Macaulay Land Use Research Institute, Craigiebuckler, Aberdeen, United Kingdom.
- Clark, J.H., Klusmeyer, T.H., Cameron, M.R., 1992. Microbial protein synthesis and flows of nitrogen fractions to the duodenum of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 75, 2304-2323.
- Czerkawski, J.W., 1976. Chemical composition of microbial matter in the rumen. J. Sci. Food Agric. 27, 621-632.
- Dewhurst, R.J., 1989. Studies on energy and nitrogen metabolism in the rumen investigation of less invasive techniques for these studies. Ph.D. thesis, University of Bristol, Bristol, United Kingdom.
- Dewhurst, R.J., Davies, D.R., Merry, R.J., 2000. Microbial protein supply from the rumen. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 85, 1-21.
- Firkins, J.L., Berger, L.L., Merchen, N.R., Fahey, G.C., Mulvaney, R.L., 1987. Ruminal nitrogen metabolism in steers as affected by feed intake and dietary urea concentration. J. Dairy Sci. 70, 2302-2311.
- GfE, Ausschuss für Bedarfsnormen der Gesellschaft für Ernährungsphysiologie, 2001. Energie- und Nährstoffbedarf landwirtschaftlicher Nutztiere. Nr. 8. Empfehlungen zur Energie- und Nährstoffversorgung der Milchkühe und Aufzuchtrinder. DLG-Verlag, Frankfurt am Main, Germany.
- Giesecke, D., Ehrentreich, L., Stangassinger, M., Ahrens, F., 1994. Mammary and renal excretion of purine metabolites in relation to energy intake and milk yield in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 77, 2376-2381.
- González-Ronquillo, M., Balcells, J. Belenguer, A., Castrillo, C., Mota, M., 2004. A comparison of purine derivatives excretion with conventional methods as indices of microbial yield in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 87, 2211-2221.

- Grant, R.J., Mertens, D.R., 1992. Influence of buffer pH and raw corn starch addition on in vitro fiber digestion kinetics. J. Dairy Sci. 75, 2762-2768.
- Grubb, J.A., Dehority, B.A., 1975. Effects of an abrupt change in ration from all roughage to high concentrate upon rumen microbial numbers in sheep. Appl. Microbiol. 30, 404-412.
- Han, Y.K., Shin, H.T., Landis, J., 1992. Effect of level of feed intake on the excretion of purine derivatives and purine derivatives to creatinine ratio in the urine of sheep. Asian Austral. J. Anim. 5, 465-468.
- Kebreab, E., France, J., Mills, J.A.N., Allison, R., Dijkstra, J., 2002. A dynamic model of N metabolism in the lactating dairy cow and an assessment of impact of N excretion on the environment. J. Anim. Sci. 80, 248-259.
- Laurent, F., Vignon, B., 1983. Factors of variation in urinary excretion of allantoin in sheep and goats. [German]. Arch. Anim. Nutr. 33, 671-681.
- Lindberg, J.E., 1985. Urinary allantoin excretion and digestible organic matter intake in dairy goats. Swedish J. Agric. Res. 15, 31-37.
- Martín-Orúe, S.M., Balcells, J., Guada, J.A., Fondevila, M., 2000. Microbial nitrogen production in growing heifers: direct measurement of duodenal flow of purine bases versus urinary excretion of purine derivatives as estimation procedures. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 88, 171-188.
- McAllan, A.B., 1982. The fate of nucleic acids in ruminants. Proceedings of the Society of Nutrition Physiology 41, 309-317.
- Menke, K.H., Steingass, H., 1987. Schätzung des energetischen Futterwertes aus der in vitro mit Pansensaft bestimmten Gasbildung und der chemischen Analyse. II. Regressionsgleichungen. Übersichten zur Tierernährung. 15, 59-94.
- Moorby, J.M., Dewhurst, R.J., Evans, R.T., Danelón, J.L., 2006. Effects of dairy cow diet forage proportion on duodenal nutrient supply and urinary purine derivative excretion.J. Dairy Sci. 89, 3552-3562.
- Naumann, C., Bassler, R., 1997. Methodenbuch Band III: Die chemische Untersuchung von Futtermitteln. VDLUFA-Verlag. Darmstadt, Germany, 1976-1997.

- Owens, F.N., Zinn, R., 1988. Protein metabolism of ruminant animals. In: Church, D.C. (Ed.), The ruminant animal, digestive physiology and nutrition, Waveland Press. Inc. Prospect Heights, IL, USA. 227-249.
- Pérez, J.F., Balcells, J., Fondevila, M., Guada, J.A., 1998. Composition of liquid- and particle-associated bacteria and their contribution to the rumen outflow. Aust. J. Agr. Res. 49, 907-914.
- Potter, E.L., Dehority, B.A., 1973. Effects of dietary change or rumen inoculation upon subsequent daily digestibility in the ovine. J. Anim. Sci. 37, 1408-1413.
- Punia, B.S., Leibholz, J., Faichney, G. J., 1992. Rate of production of protozoa in the rumen and the flow of protozoal nitrogen to the duodenum in sheep and cattle given a pelleted diet of lucerne hay and barley. J. Agric. Sci. 118, 229-236.
- Rodríguez, C.A., González, J., Alvir, M.R., Repetto, J.L., Centeno, C., Lamrani, F., 2000. Composition of bacteria harvested from the liquid and solid fractions of the rumen of sheep as influenced by feed intake. Br. J. Nutr. 84, 369-376.
- Russell, J.B., Hino, T., 1985. Regulation of lactate production in Streptococcus bovis: A spiralling effect that contributes to rumen acidosis. J. Dairy Sci. 68, 1712-1721.
- Russell, J.B., O'Connor, J.D., Fox, D.G., Van Soest, P.J., Sniffen, C.J., 1992. A net carbohydrate and protein system for evaluating cattle diets: I. Ruminal fermentation. J. Anim. Sci. 70, 3551-3561.
- Shabi, Z., Tagari, H., Murphy, M.R., Bruckental, I., Mabjeesh, S.J., Zamwel, S., Celik, K., Arieli, A., 2000. Partitioning of amino acids flowing to the abomasum into feed, bacterial, protozoal, and endogenous fractions. J. Dairy Sci. 83, 2326-2334.
- Topps, J.H., Elliott, R.C., 1965. Relationship between concentrations of ruminal nucleic acids and excretion of purine derivatives by sheep. Nature 205, 498-499.
- Van Soest, P.J., Robertson, J.B., Lewis, B.A., 1991. Methods for dietary fibre, neutral detergent fibre, and nonstarch polysaccharides in relation to animal nutrition. J. Dairy Sci. 74, 3583-3597.
- Verbic, J., Chen, X.B., Macleod, N.A., Ørskov, E.R., 1990. Excretion of purine derivatives by ruminants – effect of microbial nucleic acid infusion on purine derivative excretion by steers. J. Agric. Sci. 114, 243-248.

Wallace, R.J., 1983. Digestion of rumen bacteria in vitro. Br. J. Nutr. 49, 101-108.

Wang, C., Liu, Q., Huo, W.J., Yang, W.Z., Dong, K.H., Huang, Y.X., Guo, G., 2009. Effects of glycerol on rumen fermentation, urinary excretion of purine derivatives and feed digestibility in steers. Livest. Sci. 121, 15-20.

3 Influence of ruminal Quebracho tannin extract infusion on apparent nutrient digestibility, nitrogen balance, and urinary purine derivatives excretion in heifers.

Sandra Ahnert^a, Uta Dickhoefer^{a,b}, Franziska Schulz^a, Andreas Susenbeth^a

^a Institute of Animal Nutrition and Physiology, Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel, 24098 Kiel, Germany.

^b Present address: Institute of Animal Production in the Tropics and Subtropics, University of Hohenheim, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany.

In press for publication in Livestock Science:

S. Ahnert, U. Dickhoefer, F. Schulz, A. Susenbeth. Influence of ruminal Quebracho tannin extract infusion on apparent nutrient digestibility, nitrogen balance, and urinary purine derivatives excretion in heifers. Livestock Science (2015). DOI: 10.1016/j.livsci.2015.04.004.

3.1 Abstract

Six fully grown heifers (491 kg body weight, standard deviation 35) fitted with ruminal cannulae received incremental dosages of a commercial Quebracho tannin extract (QTE) to investigate its effects on apparent total tract nutrient digestibilities, nitrogen balance, and purine derivatives excretion as an indicator of duodenal microbial crude protein flow. The basal diet comprised 2.6 kg/d grass hay, 2.6 kg/d concentrate feed, and 60 g/d of a mineral premix (as-fed basis) and was offered in two equal meals. The QTE was administered at 0 (CON 1), 1, 2, 4, or 6 % of the daily dry matter (DM) intake from the basal diet (i.e., 45 g, 90 g, 180 g, and 270 g/d; as-fed basis). For this, half of the daily QTE dosage was suspended in water and intraruminally infused during each feeding. All animals simultaneously received the same QTE dosage. Every period comprised 9 d of adaptation and 6 d of total urine and feces collection. Subsequent to highest QTE dosage, infusion was ceased and after 14 d of adaptation, urine and feces were collected again for 10 d (CON 2). The QTE infusions at ≥ 4 % lowered apparent total tract organic matter digestibility (P ≤ 0.045). The effects were more pronounced for neutral detergent and acid detergent fiber digestibilities which decreased from 0.718 and 0.626 without QTE to 0.590 and 0.493 at 6 % QTE, respectively (P<0.001). Nitrogen excretion linearly decreased in urine (P=0.003) and linearly increased in feces (P<0.001) with incremental QTE dosages. Irrespective of the dosage level, nitrogen retention was higher with than without QTE infusion ($P \leq 0.035$). Urinary purine derivatives excretion declined from 103 mmol/d at 1 % QTE to 80 mmol/d at 6 % QTE (P<0.001), indicating a 36 % decrease in estimated duodenal microbial crude protein flow. At QTE dosages of \geq 4 % of DM intake, reduced carbohydrate digestibility will lower energy supply to the host animal. The pronounced decrease in estimated microbial protein synthesis even at moderate QTE levels is unlikely to be compensated by the increase in rumen-escape protein. The QTE addition to ruminant diets might not improve protein supply and performance of cattle.

3.2 Introduction

Protein is one of the most expensive dietary components in ruminant nutrition. Low to moderate concentrations (2-4 %) of condensed tannins in ruminant diets are considered to increase post-ruminal flow of non-ammonia nitrogen (N) due to their ability to form reversible complexes with feed proteins and thereby protect them from rumen degradation and enhance animals' protein supply (Jones and Mangan, 1977; Barry and Manley, 1984; Min et al., 2003). Hence, there is much interest in the strategic use of condensed tannins in

commercial ruminant feeding to enhance protein use efficiency. However, although condensed tannins primarily form complexes with proteins, they may also bind to minerals and polysaccharides such as starch, cellulose, hemicellulose, and pectin, thereby retarding their fermentation (Jansman, 1993; Bravo, 1998; Smith et al., 2005). Moreover, they may inhibit rumen microbial growth depending on the type of tannin, its source and dietary concentration, and the composition of the rumen microbial consortium (McSweeney et al., 2001; Smith et al., 2005). Slightly reducing the rate of protein degradation may increase efficiency of microbial crude protein (MCP) synthesis due to a synchronization of nutrient release (Makkar, 2003) as well as the inhibition of certain microbial species that are mainly responsible for protein degradation (Jones et al., 1994; Min et al., 2002; Vasta et al., 2010).

Quebracho tannin extract (QTE) is extracted from the heartwood of Quebracho tree (*Schinopsis lorentzii* (Engl.) and *Schinopsis balansae* (Engl.) found in the forests in the *Chaco* region of Argentina, Bolivia, and Paraguay. The QTE has frequently been used as a condensed tannin source in animal studies investigating its ability for e.g. improving body weight gain (Min et al., 2006), milk production (Dschaak et al., 2011), or efficiency of N utilization (Mezzomo et al., 2011) as well as reducing methane emissions (Beauchemin et al., 2007). Only a few studies investigated effects of QTE covering a broad range of dietary concentrations to examine its dose-dependency.

The present study aimed at analyzing the influence of low to high concentrations of QTE in the diet on rumen carbohydrate digestibility, N turnover and partitioning, and urinary purine derivatives (PD) excretion as an indicator of duodenal MCP flow. We hypothesized that QTE effects are dose-dependent and that even low QTE dosages will decrease ruminal protein degradation without affecting MCP synthesis and carbohydrate fermentation. It is expected, that moderate to high QTE dosages will reduce organic matter and especially protein and structural carbohydrate fermentation, thus limiting rumen microbial growth and reducing overall MCP supply to the host animal.

3.3 Material and methods

3.3.1 Animals, feeding, and experimental design

Six adult heifers fitted with ruminal cannulae were used (Jersey x German Black Pied Lowland). The animals were non-lactating, non-pregnant and housed in individual tie stalls with free access to fresh drinking water. The animals were offered a basal diet (as-fed basis; Table 5) of 2.6 kg/d of hay, 2.6 kg/d of concentrate feed, and 60 g/d of a mineral premix that

met their energy requirements for maintenance and utilizable crude protein (uCP) according to the GfE (2001). The composition of the concentrate feedstuff was as follows (on fresh matter basis): barley grain (35 %), wheat grain (35 %), sugar beet pulp (15 %), and rapeseed meal (15 %). Prior to the study, the grass hay was chopped (10-15 cm length), mixed well, and stored until feeding. At the same time, concentrations of dry matter (DM) were measured in grass hay and concentrate to calculate DM intakes of the experimental animals and hence, to determine the required QTE dosages. The basal diet was offered in two equal meals at 7:30 AM and 5:30 PM. The QTE product was a spray-dried moistened powder (Indusol ATO) produced in Argentina (Silvateam S.p.a., San Michele M.vì, Italy) containing 68.6 % total tannins and 15.9 % condensed tannins (on fresh matter basis; determined with butanol-HCL method after Terrill et al. (1992).

The study consisted of six periods, starting with a control period without QTE infusion (CON 1), followed by four consecutive periods in which all animals simultaneously received the same amount of QTE. Daily QTE dosages were 1, 2, 4, and 6 % of animals' DM intake (i.e. 45 g, 90 g, 180 g, and 270 g/d; as-fed basis). At each feeding, half of the daily QTE dosage was suspended in 1 l of lukewarm water and administered via the rumen cannula. Each period comprised 9 d of treatment adaptation followed by 6 d of total urine and feces collection. Subsequent to the 6 % QTE dosage, a second control period (CON 2) was conducted and urine and feces were collected again for 10 d, after 14 d of adaptation to the basal diet to minimize any carry-over effects.

This experimental design does not allow for exclusion of possible cumulative or residual effects of the previous QTE dosage. However, any effects of the period (i.e. advancing time of experiment) are unlikely since i) all meals had been prepared before the experiment started and their chemical composition did not differ between periods; ii) non-growing and non-pregnant heifers were used and fed at maintenance energy and protein level with a constant DM intake across all periods; and iii) animal and feeding management and climatic conditions were very similar during all periods. Furthermore, due to the high turnover rates of the microbial consortium, it is expected that the microbial ecosystem and with it protein and carbohydrate degradation pattern reached a steady state to the new tannin dosages after 9 d irrespective of the previous treatment.

Individual water intakes were measured by water meters attached to the animals' drinking troughs. The heifers were weighed prior to the study, once on d 9 of every period, and after the study to determine possible changes in body weight. Ambient air temperature and relative

air humidity in the stall were continuously recorded using a data logger (EL-USB-2-LCD, Lascar Electronics Ltd., Salisbury, United Kingdom; Table 6).

Table 5 Chemical composition of the grass hay and the concentrate feed (arithmetic means \pm standard deviations; n=6 samples).

			Hay		Concentrate
DM	[% FM]	86.1	\pm	1.1	87.3 ± 0.5
OM	[% DM]	94.4	±	0.6	96.0 ± 0.0
СР		10.0	±	0.4	16.5 ± 0.2
CL		1.2	±	0.2	2.3 ± 0.1
NDF		77.6	±	3.9	27.8 ± 3.5
ADF		38.0	±	0.8	10.8 ± 0.6
ADL		3.0	±	0.2	1.7 ± 0.2
Starch			n.d.		$41.4~\pm~0.6$
ME	[MJ/kg DM]	9.2	±	0.2	11.7 ± 0.1
IvdOM	[%]	65.4	\pm	0.9	78.5 ± 0.8

FM, fresh matter; DM, dry matter; OM, organic matter; CP, crude protein; CL, crude lipid; NDF, neutral detergent fiber (inclusive residual ash) ; ADF, acid detergent fiber (inclusive residual ash); ADL, acid detergent lignin; ME, metabolizable energy; IvdOM, *in vitro-* digestibility of organic matter; n.d., not determined.

Table 6 Minimum (min), maximum (max), and mean daily ambient air temperatures and relative air humidity during the collection phase at control periods (CON 1 and 2) and at different levels of intraruminal Quebracho tannin extract (QTE) infusion in heifers.

Period	QTE dosage	Tem	peratur	e [°C]	Relativ	ve humi	dity [%]
	(% of daily DM intake)	min	max	mean	min	max	mean
1	CON 1	17.0	26.5	21.0	51.5	85.5	70.1
2	1	17.5	23.0	20.5	50.0	83.0	70.5
3	2	17.0	22.0	19.1	66.0	91.0	81.2
4	4	16.5	21.0	18.1	67.5	86.5	79.3
5	6	16.5	18.5	17.5	68.0	87.5	79.4
6	CON 2	14.5	17.5	16.1	49.5	73.5	61.5

DM, dry matter

3.3.2 Sample collection and preparation

Samples of hay and concentrate feed (~ 750 g fresh matter) were collected once during each period, ground to pass a 1-mm sieve (Retsch ZM1 mill), and each divided into three subsamples (~ 100 g fresh matter). For urine collection, a harness was attached to the vulva of each heifer that drained the urine directly into a canister. The canister contained about 150 ml of 20 % (v/v) of sulfuric acid to reduce pH to < 3 and to prevent bacterial degradation of PD and ammonia losses. Feces were manually collected from rubber mats placed behind the animals. The urine and feces were collected twice daily at each feeding and individually weighed. Additionally, urine volumes were recorded. Total feces excreted by each animal between two subsequent morning feedings were pooled and mixed well. A 10- %- aliquot of the feces was stored frozen until the end of each period. Similarly, total urine excreted between the two morning feedings were pooled and homogenized. For allantoin and uric acid determination, 500 ml of the pooled urine were filtered (Macherey-Nagel, average pore size $4 - 12 \mu m$). Of this filtrate, 20 ml were diluted with distilled water to 100 ml (1:5, v/v), and three aliquots of approximately 10 ml of the diluted filtrate were taken and stored at -20°C until PD analysis. Of the remaining non-filtered urine, a 2- %- aliquot of urine was stored frozen until the end of each period. Then, all urine aliquots were thawed, pooled, and homogenized. Similarly, aliquots of feces were pooled. Three subsamples each of the urine (~ 500 ml) and feces (\sim 500 g) pool samples were taken and stored at -20°C until chemical analysis. For determinations of fecal N, neutral and acid detergent fiber (NDF and ADF) concentrations aliquots (~ 300 g FM) of the frozen fecal subsamples were lyophilized (for 72 h) and ground to 1 mm before analysis (VirTis Freezemobile, Modell 12EL, Warminster, USA).

3.3.3 Laboratory analyses

All analyses were performed on two of the three feed, feces, and urine subsamples. If measured values between these two subsamples differed by > 5 %, the third subsample was additionally analyzed. Concentrations of DM, organic matter (OM), and crude lipid of feed and feces (DM and OM only) subsamples were determined in duplicate according to Naumann and Bassler (1997). Feed and feces subsamples were analyzed in duplicate for concentrations of NDF (using α -amylase for feed analysis) and ADF, both inclusive of residual ash, as well as acid detergent lignin (not in feces samples) according to procedures by Van Soest et al. (1991). For total N determination, feed, feces, and urine subsamples were analyzed in single determination following the Kjeldahl procedure (Naumann and Bassler,

1997). Mean N concentrations of two or three subsamples were calculated and concentrations of crude protein (CP) of feeds and feces were determined (CP = N * 6.25). Additionally, the acid detergent insoluble nitrogen (ADIN) concentrations in feed and feces were determined in duplicate by measuring the N content of the residues after ADF analysis. Starch concentrations of the concentrate feed were determined in triplicate determinations according to Brandt et al. (1989) after enzymatic oxidation by glucose oxidase using Chinonimin as colorimetric indicator. *In vitro*- digestible OM and metabolizable energy concentrations were estimated from gas production during *in vitro*- incubations using the Hohenheim gas test (Menke and Steingass, 1987). For this, three replicates of each feed subsample were incubated on two days each.

The urinary excretion of PD is commonly used as a non-invasive microbial marker for predicting the duodenal flow of MCP (Topps and Elliott, 1965; Verbic et al., 1990; Chen and Ørskov, 2003). The underlying principle is that purine bases reaching the small intestine are mainly of microbial origin (McAllan, 1982), are efficiently absorbed and their derivatives are mainly excreted via the urine (Verbic et al., 1990; Chen and Gomes, 1992). For PD analysis two samples of the filtered and diluted urine of day 1 and 2, 3 and 4, and 5 and 6 of each period were combined to three pooled. The amount of urine taken from each sample corresponded to the urine volume of the respective day. Around 20 ml of the pooled sample was stored. During CON 2, two additional samples were generated from day 7 and 8 and d 9 and 10. From these pooled samples, aliquots of 10 ml each were taken for analysis of allantoin and uric acid, respectively. Samples from animals on days when considerable urine losses occurred were excluded from pooling and data analysis (in 18 incidents of 240 cases (=6 periods * 6 animals * 6 d (except CON 2: 10 d)). The PD analysis was conducted using high-performance reversed-phase liquid chromatography (HPLC; JASCO[®] HSS-1500, Groß-Umstadt, Germany). Allantoin and uric acid concentrations (mmol/l) were determined following the procedures described by Chen et al. (1993) and Balcells et al. (1992), respectively. For this, the diluted aliquots (1:5) were further diluted with distilled water to 1:25 for allantoin and 1:20 for uric acid analysis. Allantoin and uric acid concentrations were quantified in duplicate by peak area analyses using JASCO BORWINTM chromatography software. Urine aliquots were analyzed in duplicate and analyses were repeated, if the discrepancy exceeded 6 %. Urinary allantoin and uric acid excretions (mmol/d) were calculated by multiplying the molar concentrations by the respective daily urine volume. Total urinary PD excretion was calculated as the sum of allantoin and uric acid excretion.

3.3.4 Calculations and statistical analyses

For calculation of apparent total tract digestibilities (ATTD) of DM, OM, NDF, ADF, and ADIN, daily QTE dosages were not considered as intake. Daily QTE dosages (on DM and OM basis) were subtracted from fecal DM and OM excretions, respectively, because QTE was taken as indigestible (Mueller-Harvey, 2006; López-Andrés et al., 2013). Daily QTE dosages were not subtracted from fecal NDF, ADF, and ADIN excretions because concentrations of NDF and ADF of QTE were very low (i.e. about 10 g ADF/kg DM). Duodenal MCP flow was estimated from urinary PD excretion according to the equations of Chen and Ørskov (2003).

All statistical analyses were conducted using the software R version 3.1.0 (the R foundation for statistical computing, Vienna, Austria). To identify effects of QTE infusion data were analyzed using the mixed model procedure (lme) and analysis of variance (anova). The model included treatment as a fixed effect and the animal as a random factor. An autoregressive correlation structure was chosen. Least squares means and standard errors of the means (SEM) were calculated for all measured and calculated parameters. Significant differences (P<0.05) between least squares means were determined by the Tukey-Kramer test (mcp). Additionally, a linear regression model (lme) was applied to determine the dose-response relationship for all measured and calculated parameters, respectively. No significant differences were observed between parameters at CON 1 and 2, except for ATTD of ADIN (see Results section). Hence, mean values across both control periods of all parameters except ADIN were calculated for each animal and used for regression analysis.

3.4 Results

Except for the fact that some mucus was observed in the feces of all animals at 6 % QTE dosage, all heifers remained clinical healthy. No feed refusals occurred throughout the entire study. Mean body weight increased linearly with incremental QTE infusion (P<0.001) from 475 kg (standard deviation (SD) 33) at CON 1 to 504 kg (SD 35) at 6 % QTE (P=0.045). Thereafter, it decreased again to 484 kg (SD 33) at CON 2 (P=0.009).

The ATTD of DM ($P \le 0.045$), OM ($P \le 0.044$), and NDF ($P \le 0.020$) were lower at 4 and 6 % QTE compared to CON 1 and 2, and 1 and 2 % QTE (Table 7). Moreover, ATTD of ADF was lower at 4 and 6 % QTE than at CON 1 and 2 and 2 % QTE (SEM 0.02; $P \le 0.026$). This negative effect of QTE on ATTD of carbohydrates was more pronounced for NDF and ADF than for total OM. A linear increase in fecal N excretion with increasing QTE dosage was found (P < 0.001; Table 8), whereas urinary N excretion linearly decreased with increasing 49

QTE dosage (P<0.001). With each additional %-unit of QTE infused, fecal N excretion increased by 2.0 g/d and excretion of urinary N decreased by 2.5 g/d. The absolute decrease in urinary N excretions (g/d) exceeded the increase in fecal N excretion, in particular at 1 and 2 % QTE. The partitioning of fecal N to urinary N linearly increased from 0.50 at CON 1 to 0.96 at 6 % QTE (P<0.001). The ATTD of CP decreased by 17 % from 0.698 at CON 1 to 0.576 at 6 % QTE (SEM 0.01; P<0.001). At 4 % QTE fecal excretion of ADIN was slightly higher than ADIN intake resulting in a negative coefficient of ATTD. Moreover, ATTD of ADIN was much higher at CON 2 than at CON 1 (P=0.002). These results may not be due to any real biological variability between heifers or between treatments, but are more likely due to the fact that the analytical methods available to us were not very accurate at the levels of ADIN found in the feces samples in this experiment.

Water intakes were higher at 1 % QTE than at 2, 4, and 6 % QTE, and CON 2 (SEM 3.6; $P \le 0.029$; Table 9). Urine volume was not affected by QTE infusion (P=0.107). Urinary excretion of PD declined linearly with increasing QTE level (P < 0.001). The infusion of QTE at 4 and 6 % reduced urinary PD excretion by about 9 and 19 %, respectively, compared to CON 1 (SEM 4.00; $P \le 0.028$). Except for ATTD of ADIN, all measured and calculated parameters returned their CON 1 levels during CON 2.

different levels of intraruminal Quebracho tannin extract (QTE) infusion in heifers (least squares means, standard errors of the Table 7 Nitrogen (N) excretion and apparent total tract nutrient digestibilities during control periods (CON 1 and 2) and at means (SEM), n=6).

	·		QTE	dosage (% o	f daily DM ir	ıtake)			
Parameter	Unit	CON 1	1	2	4	9	CON 2	SEM	<i>P</i> -value
N excretion ^a	[b/g]								
Urinary		63 ^B	53 ^A	49 ^A	45 ^A	46 ^A	64 ^B	2.19	<0.001
Fecal		29^{AB}	31 ^{BC}	33 ^c	38 ^D	41^{E}	28 ^A	0.68	<0.001
Total		92 ^C	84 ^{AB}	82 ^A	84 ^A	87 ^{ABC}	92 ^{BC}	2.00	0.002
N retention	[b/g]	4.0 ^C	11.6 ^{AB}	13.7 ^A	12.5 ^A	9.4 ^{ABC}	4.3 ^{BC}	2.00	0.002
Fecal N/Urinary N		0.50 ^A	0.63 ^{AB}	0.72 ^B	0.91 ^C	0.96 ^c	0.48 ^A	0.04	<0.001
Fecal DM ^b	[b/g]	1143 ^A	1186 ^A	1170 ^A	1309 ^B	1307 ^B	1158 ^A	28.50	<0.001
Fecal OM ^b		964 ^A	966 ^A	1005 ^A	1092 ^B	1082 ^B	968 ^A	21.74	<0.001
To be continued									

continued
7
e
P
_ a

52

ParameterUnitCON 11246CON 2SEMP-valuApparent total tract digestibility coefficientDM° 0.750 10 0.741 10 0.714 10 0.747 10 0.01 <0.00 OM° 0.776 10 0.741 10 0.746 10 0.749 10 0.747 10 <0.00 OM° 0.776 10 0.769 10 0.746 10 0.749 10 0.775 10 <0.00 NDFd 0.7718 10 0.700 10 0.746 10 0.749 10 0.775 10 <0.00 NDFd 0.718 10 0.700 10 0.625 10 0.749 10 0.710 10 <0.00 ADFd 0.623 10 0.608 10 0.623 10 0.623 10 0.652 10 0.693 10 <0.001 10 <0.001 10 <0.001 10 <0.010 10 <0.010 <0.010 <0.010 10 <0.01 <0.001 <0.010 <0.010 <0.02 <0.001 <0.001 <0.000 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <t< th=""><th>Parameter Unit CON 1</th><th></th><th>Ś</th><th>•</th><th></th><th></th><th>1</th><th></th></t<>	Parameter Unit CON 1		Ś	•			1	
Apparent total tract digestibility coefficientDM° 0.750 B 0.741 B 0.744 B 0.714 A 0.747 B 0.01 <0.00 DM° 0.776 B 0.769 B 0.767 B 0.746 A 0.749 A 0.775 B 0.01 <0.00 OM° 0.776 B 0.769 B 0.767 B 0.746 A 0.749 A 0.775 B 0.01 <0.00 NDFd 0.718 B 0.700 B 0.707 B 0.625 A 0.749 A 0.775 B 0.01 <0.00 ADFd 0.723 B 0.608 $BCBC0.628BB0.539ACAC0.493A0.634B0.02<0.00CP0.698DE0.672CDCD0.653B0.050AA0.776AA0.710BB0.02<0.00ADIN0.112B0.092B0.095B0.001AA0.060ABA0.050CA0.060ABA0.050CA0.050ABA0.001AA0.000ABAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA<$		1	2	4	9	CON 2	SEM	<i>P</i> -value
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Apparent total tract digestibility coef.	ficient						
OM° 0.776 B 0.769 B 0.767 B 0.746 A 0.775 B 0.01 <0.00 NDFd 0.718 0.700 B 0.707 B 0.625 A 0.590 A 0.710 B 0.02 <0.00 ADFd 0.623 B 0.700 B 0.707 B 0.625 A 0.590 A 0.710 B <0.00 <0.00 ADFd 0.623 B 0.608 BC 0.628 B 0.539 AC 0.493 A 0.634 B 0.02 <0.00 CP 0.698 DE 0.672 CD 0.604 B 0.576 A 0.710 E 0.01 <0.00 ADIN 0.112 B 0.092 B 0.095 B -0.001 A 0.060 AB 0.232 C 0.03 <0.03	DM ^c 0.750 ^B	0.741^{-B}	0.744 ^B	0.714 ^A	0.714 ^A	0.747 ^B	0.01	<0.001
NDFd 0.718 B 0.700 B 0.707 B 0.625 A 0.590 A 0.710 B 0.02 <0.00 ADFd 0.623 B 0.608 BC 0.628 B 0.539 AC 0.493 A 0.634 B 0.02 <0.00 CP 0.698 DE 0.672 CD 0.604 B 0.576 A 0.710 E 0.01 <0.00 ADIN 0.112 B 0.092 B 0.095 B -0.001 A 0.060 AB 0.232 C 0.03 <0.03	OM ^c 0.776 ^B	0.769 ^B	0.767 ^B	0.746 ^A	0.749 ^A	0.775 ^B	0.01	<0.001
ADF ^d 0.623 ^B 0.608 ^{BC} 0.628 ^B 0.539 ^{AC} 0.493 ^A 0.634 ^B 0.02 <0.00 CP 0.698 ^{DE} 0.672 ^{CD} 0.655 ^C 0.604 ^B 0.576 ^A 0.710 ^E 0.01 <0.00	NDF^{d} 0.718 ^B	0.700 ^B	0.707 ^B	0.625 ^A	0.590 ^A	0.710 ^B	0.02	<0.001
CP 0.698 DE 0.672 CD 0.655 C 0.604 B 0.576 A 0.710 E 0.01 <0.00 ADIN 0.112 B 0.092 B 0.095 B -0.001 A 0.060 AB 0.232 C 0.03 <0.00	ADF ^d 0.623 ^B	0.608 ^{BC}	0.628 ^B	0.539 ^{AC}	0.493 ^A	0.634 ^B	0.02	<0.001
ADIN 0.112 ^B 0.092 ^B 0.095 ^B -0.001 ^A 0.060 ^{AB} 0.232 ^C 0.03 <0.00	CP 0.698 ^{DE}	0.672 ^{CD}	0.655 ^C	0.604^{B}	0.576 ^A	0.710^{E}	0.01	<0.001
	ADIN 0.112 ^B	0.092 ^B	0.095 ^B	-0.001 ^A	0.060 ^{AB}	0.232 ^C	0.03	<0.001

acid detergent insoluble nitrogen. ^a N intake = 96 g/d

^b The respective QTE dosage was subtracted from fecal excretion.

^c Digestibility of DM and OM determined by excluding QTE from intake and subtracting respective QTE dosage from fecal

excretion. $^{\rm d}$ QTE dosage was excluded from intake. For details see section material and methods.

Parameter	Unit		а			q	
	I	Value	SE	<i>P</i> -value	Value	SE	<i>P</i> -value
Total PD excretion	[mmol/d]	-3.4	-0.4	<0.001	102.0	3.909	<0.001
N excretion ^a	[g/d]						
Urinary		-2.5	0.6	<0.001	58.6	2.064	<0.001
Fecal		2.0	0.2	<0.001	29.0	0.566	<0.001
Total		-0.5	0.5	0.337	87.5	1.846	<0.001
	ور						
Apparent total tract digestibility	y coefficient						
DM^{b}		-0.006	0.001	<0.001	0.749	0.004	<0.001
OM^b		-0.005	0.001	<0.001	0.774	0.004	<0.001
NDF ^c		-0.023	0.004	<0.001	0.724	0.016	<0.001
$\mathrm{ADF}^{\mathrm{c}}$		-0.024	0.004	<0.001	0.641	0.013	<0.001
CP		-0.021	0.002	<0.001	0.698	0.006	<0.001
DM, dry matter; OM, organic	matter; NDF, neutra	l detergent i	fiber; ADF,	acid detergent	fiber; CP, ci	rude	
protein.							
^a N intake = 96 g/d							

Table 8 Linear regression equations (y = ax + b) between urinary purine derivatives excretion (PD), nitrogen (N) excretion, and apparent total tract nutrient digestibilities (y, dependent variables) and Quebracho tannin extract dosage (x, independent variable, in % DM intake) (Coefficient value and standard errors (SE), n=6).

^b Digestibility of DM and OM determined by excluding QTE from intake and subtracting respective QTE

dosage from fecal excretion.

° QTE dosage was excluded from intake. For details see section material and methods.

Table 9 Urinary purine derivatives excretion (PD) during control periods (CON 1 and 2) and at different levels of intraruminal Quebracho tannin extract (QTE) infusion in heifers (least squares means, standard errors of the means (SEM), n=6).

1 2 29.6 ^B 21.7 ^A 20.4 16.6	4 16.5 ^A 12.9	6 150 Å			
29.6 ^B 21.7 ^A 20.4 16.6	16.5 ^A 12.9	150 A	CON 2	SEM	<i>P</i> -value
20.4 16.6	12.9	0.01	14.4 ^A	3.63	0.003
		9.3	12.3	3.96	0.107
91 ^C 84 ^B	80 ^B	72 ^A	86 ^{BC}	3.52	<0.001
11 ^{BC} 11 ^{BC}	10^{AB}	9 ^A	11 ^{BC}	1.10	<0.001
103 ^D 95 ^{BC}	90 ^B	80 ^A	98 ^{BCD}	4.00	<0.001
0.89^{B} 0.89^{AB}	0.89 ^B	0.89 ^B	0.89 ^B	0.01	0.003
103 ^D 95 ^{BC} 0.89 ^B 0.89 ^{AB}		90 ^B 0.89 ^B	90 ^B 80 ^A 0.89 ^B 0.89 ^B	90 ^B 80 ^A 98 ^{BCD} 0.89 ^B 0.89 ^B 0.89 ^B	90 ^B 80 ^A 98 ^{BCD} 4.00 0.89 ^B 0.89 ^B 0.89 ^B 0.01

3.5 Discussion

3.5.1 Apparent total tract nutrient digestibility

Compared to both control periods, feed intakes of animals were not reduced at any QTE dosage most likely due to the restricted feeding level. Moreover, the intraruminal QTE application might not have interfered with diet palatability. Besides the pronounced ability of condensed tannins to form complexes with feed proteins, they may impair microbial degradation of other polymers such as cellulose, hemicellulose, pectin, and starch (Jansman, 1993; Bravo, 1998; Smith et al., 2005). Similar to Komolong et al. (2001), Beauchemin et al. (2007), and Al-Dobaib (2009), the effect of QTE was much greater on the ATTD of CP compared to OM. While ATTD of CP was already affected even at low QTE dosages, ATTD of DM, OM, NDF, and ADF was only reduced at dosages ≥ 4 %. The decrease in NDF and ADF digestibilities were most pronounced. The greater N contents in fecal ADF at moderate to high QTE dosages may overestimate their negative effects on true ADF (and likely also NDF) digestibilities. However, the absolute increase in fecal excretion of ADF was greater than of ADIN, suggesting that ATTD of fiber decreased with increasing QTE dosage. The negative effect of QTE on ruminal fiber degradability is consistent with the shift in shortchain fatty acid concentrations in rumen fluid towards lower proportions of acetate and higher proportions of propionate and butyrate with increasing QTE dosages that was observed within the frame of our study (Dickhoefer et al., 2014) supports the negative effect of QTE on ruminal fiber degradability. Additionally, Kardel (2013) determined lower in situdegradabilities of NDF from hay at 6 % QTE compared to CON 1 in our study. Other studies with sheep also reported lower NDF digestibilities with QTE at dietary concentrations (on DM basis) of 3 % (Al-Dobaib, 2009) and 5 % (Dawson et al., 1999; Salawu et al., 1997). On the one hand, the reduced ruminal carbohydrate fermentation is attributed to a complex formation of QTE- molecules with cell wall carbohydrates that prevents microbial attachment making the substrates unavailable for digestion (McAllister et al., 1994; McSweeney et al., 2001; Smith et al., 2005). On the other hand, condensed tannins might have directly inhibited fibrolytic microbes, by, for instance, binding to their cell surface (Bae et al., 1993; Scalbert, 1991) and/or reducing activities of their extracellular enzymes (Bae et al., 1993; Jones et al., 1994). The lower structural carbohydrate digestibility at high QTE dosages may have reduced the short-chain fatty acids supply to the animals as well as the availability of energy for MCP synthesis. Therefore, the strong decline in duodenal MCP flow as estimated from urinary PD excretion can at least be partly explained by this reduced structural carbohydrate digestibility (see below).

3.5.2 Nitrogen excretion and retention

Infusion of incremental QTE dosages greatly shifted partitioning in N from urine to feces which is in line with results of the majority of studies on QTE effects (Dawson et al., 1999; Komolong et al., 2001; Al-Dobaib, 2009) and could contribute to lower ammonia emissions from manure in ruminant production (Powell et al., 2011). The strong decrease in urinary N excretion can be attributed to the protein-binding property of QTE and the consequently lower ruminal protein degradation and ammonia-N release (Dawson et al., 1999; Frutos et al., 2000; Dschaak et al., 2011). This is confirmed by the reduced in situ-effective degradability of CP from hay and rapeseed meal at 4 and 6 % of QTE compared to CON 1 observed in our study (Kardel, 2013). At high QTE dosages of 4 and 6 %, urinary N excretion did not further decline compared to 1 and 2 % QTE which might be attributed to the fact that there was less scope for a reduction in ruminal ammonia-N release and/or urinary N excretion. In addition to that, the decrease in N excretion from lower estimated duodenal MCP flow at 4 and 6 % QTE might have been compensated by increasing rumen-escape protein leading to a higher quantity of amino acids being absorbed in the small intestine. Also, the linear increase in fecal N excretion with increasing QTE dosage was likely related to an increased outflow of rumenescape protein (including increased ADIN) as well as to higher losses of endogenous proteins (i.e. salivary proteins, digestive enzymes, mucus). As highlighted in a review by Waghorn (2008), it still remains unclear, if tannin-protein complexes fully dissociate at low pH in the abomasum and, if not, they also account for higher fecal N excretion. Additionally, there is evidence in the literature that free tannin molecules reaching the small intestine might reduce the activity of intestinal enzymes (Barry and Duncan, 1984; Silanikove et al., 1994) and/or rebind with feed or endogenous proteins after their release in the abomasum (McNabb et al., 1998) thereby reducing post-ruminal amino acid absorption (Dawson et al., 1999; Waghorn, 2008). Hence, assuming a lower precaecal digestibility of (feed) protein with QTE in the present study would have accounted for higher fecal N excretions as well as lower urinary N excretions and would negate any positive effect of increased rumen-escape protein flow.

Irrespective of the QTE dosage, N retention was higher with QTE infusion than at CON 1 and 2 which contradicts results of other studies with growing lambs that observed no (Dawson et al., 1999; Komolong et al., 2001) or negative effects of QTE on N retention (Al-Dobaib,

2009). The higher N retention with than without QTE in the our study cannot be fully explained because study animals were fully grown, fed at maintenance energy level, and QTE infusion markedly reduced nutrient digestibilities. However, we suspect that animals utilized protein for compensatory mechanisms such as to protect the intestinal epithelium against tannins. Feces of animals were covered with mucus at highest QTE dosage in our study which agrees with findings of Hervás et al. (2003). Also, Dawson et al. (1999) observed focal surface epithelial ulceration and increased mucosal histiocytes in the jejunum and ileum of sheep dosed with 5 % QTE (on DM basis). Beside these defence mechanisms, animals might have retained protein for compensation of endogenous losses such as increased secretion of salivary glycoproteins and digestive enzymes, higher regeneration of epithelial cells, and higher mucus production in the gastro-intestinal tract with increasing QTE infusion. The increase in body weight with QTE in our study is considered to arise at least partly from these defence mechanisms rather than being due to a higher muscle growth. Besides, greater gut fill of the gastro intestinal tract due to lower ATTD of OM may furthermore explain the body weight increase as well as its decline back to CON 1 level after QTE infusion was ceased at CON 2.

3.5.3 Urinary purine derivatives excretion and estimated microbial protein synthesis

Condensed tannins are considered to have adverse effects on rumen microbial growth (McSweeney et al., 2001), depending on, amongst other factors, the microbial group or species (Jones et al., 1994; O'Donovan and Brooker, 2001; Vasta et al., 2010) and the type, source, and concentration of tannins in the diet (Min et al., 2003; Smith et al., 2005). In the present study, urinary PD excretion decreased linearly with increasing QTE dosage levels. Similarly, alfalfa hay with 3 % QTE (on DM basis) reduced urinary PD excretion in sheep in a study by Al-Dobaib (2009). Conversely, Komolong et al. (2001) found no effect of up to 6 % QTE (on DM basis) on urinary PD excretion in sheep. According to the equation of Chen and Ørskov (2003), the lower urinary PD excretions of our study animals suggest a decrease in duodenal MCP flow from 318 g/d at Con 1 to 293 g, 269 g, and 215 g/d at 2, 4, and 6 % QTE. However, higher ratios of purine-N to total-N with increasing QTE dosages were determined in liquid-associated microbes in the solid phase within the framework of our study (Dickhoefer et al., 2014). Estimated MCP flow using these purine-N to total-N ratios are much lower than those derived according to Chen and Ørskov (2003), indicating that the negative linear effects of QTE on MCP synthesis were even more pronounced. Moreover, infusion of QTE might have reduced praecaecal digestibility of microbial purines (see chapter N excretion and retention), although changes do not greatly alter MCP estimates from urinary PD excretion.

A lower estimated duodenal MCP flow in our study could be ascribed to direct inhibitory effects of QTE on rumen MCP synthesis such as the inhibition of extracellular enzymes (Bae et al., 1993; Jones et al., 1994), binding of QTE molecules to the microbial cell wall and membrane causing morphological changes (Bae et al., 1993; Scalbert, 1991), and/or a reduced availability of essential metal ions (Scalbert, 1991). A lack of rumen degradable N for microbes due to a lower protein degradability associated with QTE is precluded because ammonia-N concentrations in rumen liquid in our study (Dickhoefer et al., 2014) were within the optimal range for microbial growth (Satter and Slyter, 1974). The impaired carbohydrate digestibility, however, probably reduced energy availability for rumen microbes and thus MCP synthesis (see section above).

Altogether, the reduced ATTD digestibility of CP, lower duodenal flow of MCP estimated from urinary PD excretion, and the increasing endogenous protein losses at moderate to high QTE infusion levels most likely decreased rather than increased protein availability for the host animal.

3.6 Conclusions

Dosing cattle with moderate QTE levels ($\geq 4 \%$ DM) has detrimental effects on ruminal carbohydrate degradability, lowering energy supply to the host and reducing duodenal MCP flow estimated from urinary PD excretion. The QTE infusion may greatly shift N excretion towards feces, which can be desired from an environmental perspective. However, it is unlikely that the increase in rumen-escape protein will lead to greater post-ruminal amino acid absorption and improve cattle performance at moderate to high QTE dosages mainly due to pronounced reductions in estimated duodenal MCP flow and increase in fecal N excretions.

3.7 References

- Al-Dobaib, S.N., 2009. Effect of different levels of Quebracho tannin on nitrogen utilization and growth performance of Najdi sheep fed alfalfa (Medicago sativa) hay as a sole diet. Animal Science Journal, 1-10.
- Bae, H.D., McAllister, T.A., Yanke, J., Cheng, K.J., Muir, A.D., 1993. Effect of condensed tannins on endoglucanase activity and filter paper digestion by Fibrobacter succinogenes S85. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 59, 2132-2138.

- Balcells, J., Guada, J.A., Peiró, J.M., Parker, D.S., 1992. Simultaneous determination of allantoin and oxypurines in biological fluids by high-performance liquid chromatography. J. Chromatogr. 575, 153-157.
- Barry, T.N., Duncan, S.J., 1984. The role of condensed tannins in the nutritional value of Lotus pedunculatus for sheep. 1. Voluntary intake. Br. J. Nutr. 51, 485-491.
- Barry, T.N., Manley, T.R., 1984. The role of condensed tannins in the nutritional value of Lotus pedunculatus for sheep. 2. Quantitative digestion of carbohydrates and proteins. Br. J. Nutr. 51, 493-504.
- Beauchemin, K.A., McGinn, S.M., Martinez, T.F., McAllister, T.A., 2007. Use of condensed tannin extract from quebracho trees to reduce methane emissions from cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 85, 1990-1996.
- Brandt, M., Schuldt, A., Mannerkorpi, P., Vearasilp, T., 1987. Zur enzymatischen Stärkebestimmung im Darminhalt und Kot von Kühen mit hitzestabiler Amylase. Arch. Anim. Nutr. 37, 455.
- Bravo, L., 1998. Polyphenols: Chemistry, dietary sources, metabolism, and nutritional significance. Nutr. Rev. 56, 317-333.
- Chen, X.B., Gomes, M.J., 1992. Estimation of microbial protein supply to sheep and cattle based on urinary excretion of purine derivatives: An overview over technical details. International Feed Resources Unit, Aberdeen, United Kingdom.
- Chen, X.B., Kyle, D.J., Ørskov, E.R, 1993. Measurement of allantoin in urine and plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography with pre-column derivatization. J. Chromatogr. 617, 241-247.
- Chen, X.B., Ørskov, E.R., 2003. Research on urinary excretion of purine derivatives in ruminants: past, present, and future. International Feed Resources Unit, Macaulay Land Use Research Institute, Craigiebuckler, Aberdeen, United Kingdom.
- Dawson, J.M., Buttery, P.J., Jenkins, D., Wood, C.D., Gill, M., 1999. Effects of dietary quebracho tannin on nutrient utilization and tissue metabolism in sheep and rats. J. Sci. Food Agric. 79, 1423-1430.
- Dickhoefer, U., Susenbeth, A., Ahnert, S., 2014. Composition of microbial biomass and rumen fluid in forestomachs of heifers supplemented with graded levels of quebracho tannin extract. Proceedings of the Society of Nutrition Physiology 23, 131.

- Dschaak, C.M., Williams, C.M., Holt, M.S., Eun, J.-S., Young, A.J., Min, B.R., 2011. Effects of supplementing condensed tannin extract on intake, digestion, ruminal fermentation, and milk production of lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 94, 2508-2519.
- Frutos, P., Hervás, G., Giráldez, F.J., Fernández, M., Mantecón, A.R., 2000. Digestive utilization of quebracho-treated soya bean meals in sheep. J. Agric. Sci. 134, 101-108.
- GfE, Ausschuss für Bedarfsnormen der Gesellschaft für Ernährungsphysiologie, 2001. Energie- und Nährstoffbedarf landwirtschaftlicher Nutztiere. Nr. 8. Empfehlungen zur Energie- und Nährstoffversorgung der Milchkühe und Aufzuchtrinder. DLG-Verlag, Frankfurt am Main, Germany.
- Hervás, G., Pérez, V., Giráldez, F.J., Mantecón, A.R., Almar, M.M., Frutos, P., 2003. Intoxication of sheep with quebracho tannin extract. J. Comp. Path. 129, 44-54.
- Jansman, A.J.M., 1993. Tannins in feedstuffs for simple-stomached animals. Nutr. Res. Rev. 6, 209-236.
- Jones, G.A., McAllister, T.A., Muir, A.D., Cheng, K.-J., 1994. Effect of sainfoin (Onobrychis viciifolia Scop.) condensed tannins on growth and proteolysis by 4 strains of rumen bacteria. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 60, 1374-1378.
- Jones, W.T., Mangan, J.L., 1977. Complexes of the condensed tannins of sainfoin (Onobrychis viciifolia Scop.) with fraction 1 leaf protein and with submaxillary mucoprotein, and their reversal by polyethylene glycol and pH. J. Sci. Food Agric. 28, 126-136.
- Kardel, M., 2013. Charakterisierung von Tanninen aus Pflanzenextrakten und deren Einfluss auf pansenphysiologische Parameter. Ph.D. thesis, Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel, Kiel, Germany, 108 pp.
- Komolong, M.K., Barber, D.G., McNeill, D.M., 2001. Post-ruminal protein supply and N retention of weaner sheep fed on a basal diet of lucerne hay (Medicago sativa) with increasing levels of quebracho tannins. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 92, 59-72.
- López-Andrés, P., Luciano, G., Vasta, V., Gibson, T.M., Biondi, L., Priolo, A., Mueller-Harvey, I., 2013. Dietary quebracho tannins are not absorbed, but increase the antioxidant capacity of liver and plasma in sheep. Br. J. Nutr. 110, 632-639.

- Makkar, H.P.S., 2003. Effects and fate of tannins in ruminant animals, adaptation to tannins, and strategies to overcome detrimental effects of feeding tannin-rich feeds. Small Ruminant Res. 49, 241-256.
- McAllan, A.B., 1982. The fate of nucleic acids in ruminants. Proceedings of the Society of Nutrition Physiology 41, 309-317.
- McAllister, T.A., Bae, H.D., Jones, G.A., Cheng, K.J., 1994. Microbial attachment and feed digestion in the rumen. J. Anim. Sci. 72, 3004-3018.
- McNabb, W.C., Peters, J.S., Yeap Foo, L., Waghorn, G.C., Jackson, F.S., 1998. Effect of condensed tannins prepared from several forages on the in vitro precipitation of ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase (Rubisco) protein and its digestion by trypsin (EC 2.4.21.4) and chymotrypsin (EC 2.4.21.1). J. Sci. Food Agric. 77, 201-212.
- McSweeney, C.S., Palmer, B., McNeill, D.M., Krause, D.O., 2001. Microbial interaction with tannins: nutritional consequences for ruminants. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 91, 83-93.
- Menke, K.H., Steingass, H., 1987. Schätzung des energetischen Futterwertes aus der in vitro mit Pansensaft bestimmten Gasbildung und der chemischen Analyse. II. Regressionsgleichungen. Übersichten zur Tierernährung. 15, 59-94.
- Mezzomo, R., Paulino, P.V.R., Detmann, E., Valadares Filho, S.C., Paulino, M.F., Monnerat, J.P.I.S., Duarte, M.S., Silva, L.H.P., Moura, L.S., 2011. Influence of condensed tannin on intake, digestibility, and efficiency of protein utilization in beef steers fed high concentrate diet. Livest. Sci. 141, 1-11.
- Min, B.R., Attwood, G.T., Reilly, K., Sun, W., Peters, J.S., Barry, T.N., McNabb, W.C., 2002. Lotus corniculatus condensed tannins decrease in vivo populations of proteolytic bacteria and affect nitrogen metabolism in the rumen of sheep. Can. J. Microbiol. 48, 911-921.
- Min, B.R., Barry, T.N., Attwood, G.T., McNabb, W.C., 2003. The effect of condensed tannins on the nutrition and health of ruminants fed fresh temperate forages: a review. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 106, 3-19.
- Min, B.R., Pinchak, W.E., Anderson, R.C., Fulford, J.D., Puchala, R., 2006. Effects of condensed tannins supplementation level on weight gain and in vitro and in vivo bloat precursors in steers grazing winter wheat. J. Anim. Sci. 84, 2546-2554.

- Mueller-Harvey, I., 2006. Unravelling the conundrum of tannins in animal nutrition and health. J. Sci. Food Agric. 86, 2010-2037.
- Naumann, C., Bassler, R., 1997. Methodenbuch Band III: Die chemische Untersuchung von Futtermitteln. VDLUFA-Verlag. Darmstadt, Germany, 1976-1997.
- O'Donovan, L., Brooker, J.D., 2001. Effect of hydrolysable and condensed tannins on growth, morphology and metabolism of Streptococcus gallolyticus (S. caprinus) and Streptococcus bovis. Microbiology 147, 1025-1033.
- Powell, J.M., Aguerre, M.J., Wattiaux, M.A., 2011. Tannin extracts abate ammonia emissions from simulated dairy barn floors. J. Environ. Qual. 40, 907-914.
- Salawu, M.B., Acamovic, T., Stewart, C.S., Hovell, F.D.DeB., 1997. Quebracho tannins with or without Browse Plus (a commercial preparation of polyethylene glycol) in sheep diets: effect on digestibility of nutrients in vivo and degradation of grass hay in sacco and in vitro. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 69, 67-78.
- Satter, L.D., Slyter, L.L., 1974. Effect of ammonia concentration on rumen microbial protein production in vitro. Br. J. Nutr. 32, 199-208.
- Scalbert, A., 1991. Antimicrobial properties of tannins. Phytochemistry 30, 3875-3883.
- Silanikove, N., Nitsan, Z., Perevolotsky, A., 1994. Effect of a daily supplementation of polyethylene glycol on intake and digestion of tannin-containing leaves (Ceratonia siliqua) by sheep. J. Agr. Food Chem. 42, 2844-2847.
- Smith, A.H., Zoetendal, E., Mackie, R.I., 2005. Bacterial mechanisms to overcome inhibitory effects of dietary tannins. Microb. Ecol. 50, 197-205.
- Terrill, T.H., Rowan, A.M., Douglas, G.B., Barry, T.N., 1992. Determination of extractable and bound condensed tannin concentrations in forage plants, protein concentrate meals and cereal grains. J. Sci. Food Agric. 58, 321-329.
- Topps, J.H., Elliott, R.C., 1965. Relationship between concentrations of ruminal nucleic acids and excretion of purine derivatives by sheep. Nature 205, 498-499.
- Van Soest, P.J., Robertson, J.B., Lewis, B.A., 1991. Methods for dietary fibre, neutral detergent fibre, and nonstarch polysaccharides in relation to animal nutrition. J. Dairy Sci. 74, 3583-3597.
- Vasta, V., Yánez, D.R., Mele, M., Serra, A., Luciano, G., Lanza, M., Biondi, L., Priolo, A., 2010. Bacterial and protozoal communities and fatty acid profile in the rumen of sheep fed a diet containing added tannins. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76, 2549-2555.
- Verbic, J., Chen, X.B., Macleod, N.A., Ørskov, E.R., 1990. Excretion of purine derivatives by ruminants – effect of microbial nucleic acid infusion on purine derivative excretion by steers. J. Agric. Sci. 114, 243-248.
- Waghorn, G.C., 2008. Beneficial and detrimental effects of dietary condensed tannins for sustainable sheep and goat production- progress and challenges. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 147, 116-139.

4 General discussion

The microbial crude protein (MCP) is of great nutritional importance in ruminants and its correct quantification is a key issue in order to improve the accuracy of protein feeding to ruminants (Shingfield and Offer, 1998; Reynal et al., 2005). The urinary purine derivatives (PD) excretion is a non-invasive indicator for prediction of MCP supply in ruminant animals and has been frequently used in feeding studies because the traditional measurement of duodenal MCP flow is associated with difficulties including low statistical power and the need for (double) cannulated animals (Titgemeyer, 1997). Using urinary PD excretion as a method for prediction of MCP supply is based on the assumption that purine bases reaching the duodenum originate mainly from rumen microbes (McAllan and Smith, 1973; McAllan, 1982), are extensively metabolized, and their derivatives are largely excreted via the urine (Verbic et al., 1990; Balcells et al., 1991; Chen and Gomes, 1992). Hence, the urinary PD excretion could serve as method for detecting relative changes in duodenal MCP flow due to dietary modifications and for evaluation of protein supply under practical conditions. One of the main focuses of the present thesis is to evaluate the potential of the urinary PD approach to reflect changes in duodenal MCP flow induced by intraruminal infusion of increasing dosages of glucose, a rapidly degradable carbohydrate, and Quebracho tannin extract (QTE), a condensed tannin source.

4.1 Validation of urinary purine derivatives excretion as an indicator for estimation of duodenal microbial protein flow

4.1.1 Accuracy of urinary purine derivatives excretion to quantify microbial protein flow

Several methods have been applied to differentiate between dietary protein and MCP in duodenal digesta flow (Broderick and Merchen, 1992; Stern et al., 1994). The variability of MCP flow estimates obtained with different markers is quite large (Siddons et al., 1982; Carro and Miller, 2002; Reynal et al., 2005). There is no absolute standard marker method that accurately predicts duodenal MCP flow which is attributed to the complexity of the rumen microbial consortium and its metabolism on the one hand and technical difficulties involved with measurements using cannulated animals on the other hand (Stern et al., 1994; Dewhurst et al., 2000). To evaluate a microbial marker, researches attempted to find the most suitable microbial marker for estimating duodenal MCP flow by simultaneously using different markers (Stern et al., 1994). Several studies aimed at validating the method of urinary PD 64

excretion by comparing estimated duodenal MCP flow from urinary PD excretion with other internal (total purines, amino acid profiles) or external (¹⁵N) markers, however, results presented are contradictory. In some studies, estimates of duodenal MCP flow based on urinary PD excretion were 31 % (Reynal et al., 2005) and 48 % (Martín-Orúe et al., 2000) lower compared to MCP flow estimates based on total purine bases flow in the duodenum. Likewise, other experiments reported underestimation of duodenal MCP flow when using urinary PD excretion compared to estimates using ¹⁵N as microbial marker (Pérez et al., 1997; Brito et al., 2007). In contrast, in a study by Hristov et al. (2005), duodenal MCP flow estimates were about 21 and 52 % higher using urinary PD excretion compared to estimations based on ¹⁵N or total purine bases as microbial marker, respectively. Although there was no other microbial marker measured in the present studies in order to validate the urinary PD excretion method, a comparison to calculated values of duodenal MCP flow based on the GfE (2001) was carried out. Estimated duodenal MCP flow based on urinary PD excretion without infusion of glucose (Control I; main trial; Chapter 2) and QTE (CON 1; Chapter 3) were 76 and 318 g MCP/day, respectively. However, a duodenal MCP flow of 450 and 522 g MCP/d was expected during the glucose and QTE study, respectively, based on digestible organic matter intake (DOMI) and an average efficiency of MCP synthesis of 156 g MCP/kg DOMI (GfE, 2001) which reveals in a discrepancy of 83 and 39 % in prediction of duodenal MCP flow estimates. Instead, De Boever et al. (1998) observed a good agreement between estimated duodenal MCP flow in bulls based on urinary PD excretion and MCP estimates derived from different protein evaluation systems currently in use (i.e. NRC, 1996; Madsen, 1985; Alderman and Cottrill, 1993; Tamminga et al., 1994). Besides, it should be noted that the pronounced underestimation of duodenal MCP flow derived from urinary PD excretion in the present studies might also result from an overestimation of the calculated value based on GfE (2001). The underestimation of duodenal MCP flow when using purine bases and urinary PD excretion compared to ¹⁵N as microbial marker is mainly attributed to the unrepresentative nature of the isolated microbial sample (Pérez et al., 1997). Microbes associated with the liquid phase have generally higher purine-nitrogen (N) to total-N ratios than solid-associated microbes (Firkins et al., 1987; Obispo and Dehority, 1999; Martín-Orué et al., 2000). Therefore, if liquid-associated microbes in the isolated microbial reference sample are overrepresented compared to solid-associated microbes, duodenal MCP flow will be underestimated (Broudiscou and Jouany, 1995, Hristov et al., 2005). Besides, the purine-N to total-N ratios in mixed rumen microbes were shown to vary with i) microbial growth rates (Bates et al., 1985), ii) rumen outflow rates (Rodríguez et al., 2000), and iii) forage to

concentrate ratio (Pérez et al., 1998). Hence, the accuracy of estimating MCP supply from urinary PD excretion or other internal and external microbial marker largely depends on obtaining a microbial sample that is representative for the mixed rumen microbial consortium (Dewhurst, 2000; Shingfield, 2000; Gonzáles-Ronquillo et al., 2004). Purine-N to total-N ratios of mixed rumen microbes were determined within the frame of our second study (Dickhoefer et al., submitted). Results indicate that microbial purine concentration was actually lower compared to the value proposed by Chen and Ørskov (2003) and using the determined values will result in higher MCP estimates. Hence, the underestimation of duodenal MCP flow partly results from lower microbial purine concentration in the second study and probably in the first study, too, although there is no information on the microbial purine concentration. Besides, further reasons for the discrepancy between estimated and predicted duodenal MCP flow might be a difference in the contribution of endogenous PD, the digestibility of microbial purine bases, and/or the proportion of microbial purines that are excreted via the urine from the proposed value in the model of Chen and Ørskov (2003). Considering the former aspect, Verbic et al. (1990) mentioned that the basal endogenous PD excretion measured in steers using the "intragastric nutrition technique" where animals are totally nourished by volatile fatty acids and casein might not represent the true endogenous PD excretion when animals receive normal feed. Thus, it can be assumed that endogenous PD excretion of our study animals, fed at maintenance requirements, might have been lower compared to Verbic et al. (1990) and would have also caused the underestimation in duodenal MCP flow since values of these authors were used.

4.1.2 Reliability of urinary purine derivatives excretion to reflect relative changes in duodenal microbial protein flow

Although estimates of duodenal MCP flow were often lower using urinary PD excretion, the excretion of PD in urine appears to highly correlate with the flow of purine bases (Martín-Orúe et al., 2000), microbial non-ammonia-N flow (Reynal et al., 2005), dietary rumen degradable protein content (Martín-Orúe et al., 2000; Reynal et al., 2005), dry matter intake (Stefanon et al., 1995; Moorby et al., 2006), and forage to concentrate ratios (Perez et al., 1997). Chen and Ørskov (2003) emphasized that the urinary PD excretion should rather be used to evaluate relative differences in duodenal MCP flow than for estimating the absolute duodenal MCP flow. In contrast thereto, results presented in this thesis indicate that the urinary PD excretion is unable to reflect small changes in duodenal MCP flow with increasing dosages of glucose and unreliable to predict the absolute extent of decrease in duodenal MCP

flow with increasing QTE infusion. In the first study (main trial; Chapter 2), the intraruminal infusion of incremental glucose dosages increased urinary PD excretion, suggesting an increased duodenal MCP flow (Rooke et al., 1987; Chamberlain et al., 1993; Kim et al., 1999a). The extent of increase in urinary PD excretion at 1000 g/d of glucose compared to that without glucose administration (Control I) is only slightly lower than the predicted increase in urinary PD excretion assuming the efficiency of MCP synthesis given by GfE (2001; Chapter 2, subchapter 2.5.2) and using the equations provided by Chen and Ørskov (2003). However, contrary to our hypothesis, the relationship between glucose dosage and urinary PD excretion was not linear. A pronounced increase in PD excretion was observed at lowest glucose dosage level of 125 g/d. Higher dosages up to 1000 g/d did not lead to any further increases in urinary PD excretion compared to glucose at 125 g/d. Therefore, it can be assumed that the PD excretion failed to reflect the responses of rumen MCP synthesis to even greater increments in intraruminal glucose dosages. It appears likely that glucose induced changes in the species composition of the microbial consortium and the efficiency of MCP synthesis as well as changes of the microbial growth rates that in turn altered the purine concentration in mixed microbial matter. It is concluded, that these shifts are mainly responsible for the non-linear response in urinary PD excretion and they may thus hamper the accuracy of MCP estimates. However, although fecal N excretion increased linearly with incremental glucose infusion, which is assumed to arise from higher duodenal MCP flow, it cannot be excluded that MCP synthesis at high glucose dosages was lower than expected and hence, would also give an explanation for the non-linear response in PD excretion.

In the second study (Chapter 3), urinary PD excretion declined linearly with increasing levels of intraruminal QTE infusion, reflecting a decrease in duodenal MCP flow which is mainly attributed to direct and indirect inhibiting effects of QTE on total microbial consortium or certain microbial species within the rumen. This decrease in urinary PD excretion at moderate to high QTE dosages is in line with the effects observed for apparent total tract digestibility of OM and urinary and fecal N excretions and confirms our hypothesis. This suggests that urinary PD excretion sensitively reflected the adverse effects of tannins on MCP supply. However, the observed shifts towards higher purine-N to total-N ratio in liquid-associated microbes with increasing levels of QTE infusion within the frame of our study (Dickhoefer et al., 2014) has revealed a relevant shortcoming. Estimated duodenal MCP flow using actually measured purine-N to total-N ratios were much lower than those estimates derived using the purine concentration in microbial mass given by Chen and Ørskov (2003) which indicates that the negative linear effects of QTE on MCP synthesis might have been even more pronounced.

As the extent of inhibition of condensed tannins is reported to depend, amongst other factors, on the microbial group or species (Jones et al., 1994; O'Donovan and Brooker, 2001; Vasta et al., 2010), the infusion of QTE in our study likely altered species composition towards those with higher purine concentrations and/or higher growth rates. Also, Castro-Montoya et al. (2011) have shown increment in purine base content and a decreasing crude protein to purine ratio in *in vitro*-incubations of different purified QTE levels and attributed this to shifts in microbial consortium. Hence, these results suggest that estimates of duodenal MCP flow from urinary PD excretion in response to QTE in ruminant diets may be inaccurate due to shifts in the composition of the microbial consortium.

The results of both studies demonstrate that the prediction of MCP supply is subjected to considerable inaccuracy using urinary PD excretion. Assuming a constant purine-N to total-N ratio in microbial matter represents a potential source of error which may mask changes in duodenal MCP flow when estimated from urinary PD excretion. Although the absolute ratio is not important when the aim is to reflect relative differences in duodenal MCP flow caused by the treatment (e.g. glucose or QTE), shifts in purine concentration between different treatments of a study (e.g. dosage of glucose or QTE) will result in highly inaccurate MCP estimates, rendering the urinary PD excretion an unreliable indicator. In order to enhance the accuracy of prediction when using urinary PD excretion, research is needed that focus on the purine-N to total-N ratio under various feeding conditions.

4.1.3 Equations to predict the duodenal purine bases flow

Several studies established predictions equations derived from measuring the urinary recovery of post-ruminally infused nucleic acids (steers, Verbic et al., 1990), purines (dry and lactating cows, Vagnoni et al., 1997), or yeast ribonucleic acid (bulls, Beckers and Thewis, 1994; dry cows, Orellana Boero et al., 2001; lactating cows, González-Ronquillo et al., 2003). All the established prediction equations are available for use, however, estimated values of endogenous contribution and recovery of absorbed purines differ between 0.236 (Orellana Boero et al., 2001) and 0.531 mmol/kg metabolic body weight (BW^{0.75}) (Beckers and Thewis, 1994), and 0.56 (González-Ronquillo et al., 2003) and 0.86 (Vagnoni et al., 1997; Orellana Boero et al., 2001), respectively. Different estimates of endogenous PD losses can partially be attributed to differences in measurement techniques. While the prediction equation of Verbic et al. (1990) incorporates estimates of endogenous PD losses derived from direct measurements of basal PD excretion using the gastric nutrition technique, other studies

calculated endogenous PD losses from the intercepts of the equation (Beckers and Thewis, 1994; Vagnoni et al., 1997) or used a combination with ¹⁵N-labelled microbial purine bases (Orellana Boero et al., 2001; González-Ronquillo et al., 2003). Differences in recovery rate are mainly attributed to differences in duodenal digestibility of infused purines (Orellana Boero et al., 2001) and, in dairy cows, recovery of PD was shown to differ between early and late lactation (González-Ronquillo et al., 2003). It was hypothesized, that the extent of endogenous contribution and excretion of PD via non-renal routes, which determines the recovery of absorbed purines, may vary depending on the physiological and nutritional status of the animal (Chen et al., 1990; Balcells et al., 1991; Johnson et al., 1998; González-Ronquillo et al., 2003). For instance, Reynal et al. (2005) observed an underestimation of duodenal MCP flow based on urinary PD excretion and attributed this underestimation partly to the prediction equation used because this equation was developed with dry and late lactation cows (Vagnoni et al., 1997) compared to the early lactation cows used in their study. Therefore, use of equations that are derived from experiments where conditions considerably differ to those conditions of the actual study may lead to inaccuracy in MCP estimates (Reynal et al., 2005). Additionally, Firkins et al. (2006) emphasized that the prediction equations are based on direct measurements of duodenal flow of purine bases and any errors in estimation of the intercept will affect accuracy of the prediction equation since intercept and slope are highly correlated.

In the present studies, the model after Chen and Ørskov (2003) was used for estimating duodenal MCP flow which is based on the prediction equation for duodenal flow of purine bases established by Verbic et al. (1990). This prediction equation assumes a value for endogenous contribution of 0.385 mmol/kg BW^{0.75} and a recovery rate of 0.85 ($y = 0.85x + 0.385*BW^{0.75}$). In the following, a comparison between the prediction equation of Verbic et al. (1990) and the equations of Beckers and Thewis (bulls, 1994; $y = 0.72x + 0.531*BW^{0.75}$) and Orellana Boero (dry cows, 2001; $y = 0.86x + 0.236*BW^{0.75}$) will be conducted to highlight differences in estimating duodenal MCP flow using different prediction equations. Applying the model proposed by Beckers and Thewis (1994) to the measured urinary PD excretion in the present studies reduces estimated duodenal MCP flow without glucose infusion (CON 1; Chapter 2) to -4 g MCP/d (instead 318 g MCP/d), respectively. Applying the response model developed by Orellana Boero (2001), would result in higher estimates of duodenal MCP flow being at 160 g MCP/d (instead of 76 g MCP/d) without glucose infusion (Control I) and at 404 g MCP/d (instead 318 g MCP/d) without QTE infusion (CON 1).

Regarding relative differences in estimated duodenal MCP flow, the extent of increase with 1000 g/d of glucose and decrease at 6 % QTE in the diet, respectively, were similar between models. Therefore, even if estimated values for endogenous contribution and recovery of absorbed purine bases differ between prediction equations, relative changes in duodenal MCP flow will be reflected. However, for quantifying duodenal MCP flow, this comparison of prediction models clearly demonstrates that different assumptions about endogenous contribution and recovery of absorbed purine bases will cause considerable under- or overestimations depending on the equation used.

4.1.4 Implications of using the urinary purine derivatives excretion as indicator for microbial protein flow

The urinary PD excretion as an indicator for duodenal MCP flow is based on a number of parameters that are assumed to be constant, including the ratio of purine-N to total-N ratio in microbial matter, duodenal purine base digestibility, recovery rate of absorbed purines, and endogenous contribution to urinary PD excretion. Although the majority of studies that aim at validating the quantitative relationship between urinary PD excretion and duodenal MCP flow concluded that it is a sensitive indicator for animals' MCP supply (Vagnoni and Broderick, 1997; Chen and Ørskov, 2003; Moorby et al., 2006), results presented in this thesis (Chapter 2 and 3) indicate that this conclusion might not be valid for situations when considerable amounts of rapidly fermentable carbohydrates and condensed tannins are fed. Treatmentrelated changes in microbial purine concentrations might not only result in considerable under- or overestimations of duodenal MCP flow, but also mask potential treatment effects on urinary PD excretion. Moreover, the ability of the urinary PD approach to account for potential variations in recovery rates of absorbed PD in urine or, vice versa their diversion into non-renal routes as well as the excretion of endogenous PD strongly influences the accuracy of the results derived from it. Besides, as mentioned above, the use of prediction equations to estimate duodenal MCP flow from urinary PD excretion that were established under different conditions may potentially increase the inaccuracy of MCP estimates.

In conclusion, the urinary PD excretion as an indicator of duodenal MCP flow has potential, however, there are still limitations making it unreliable for being applied as reference measurements for ruminal MCP synthesis within protein evaluation systems. For improving the accuracy and sensitivity of predicting duodenal MCP flow, further research is required that focus on dietary and animal factors that lead to considerable variations in, for instance, microbial purine concentration, true digestibility and recovery rate of absorbed purines, and 70

endogenous PD losses. Consequently, a profound database should be created in order to establish prediction equations for different feeding situations (i.e. various concentrates and forages, secondary plant metabolites) and animals (i.e. breeds, physiological state).

4.2 Strategies to modify microbial protein synthesis and efficiency of nitrogen utilization in the rumen

The maximization of microbial growth and the amount of rumen degradable protein that is incorporated into microbial biomass is one of the main goals of ruminant nutritionists in order to improve the amino acid flow to the small intestine and to reduce fermentation losses of N (Bach et al., 2005). The rumen metabolism is considered as the most important factor which contributes to the lower efficiency of N utilization in ruminants (Tamminga, 1992). The microbial protein degradation in the rumen often leads to a net loss of N when protein and carbohydrates are imbalanced and cannot be used efficiently for MCP synthesis (Tamminga, 1996). The traditional assessment of the efficiency of MCP synthesis is determined in g MCP/ unit of ruminal available energy (i.e. kg digestible organic matter intake (DOMI) or metabolizable energy (ME)) since energy is assumed to be the most limiting factor for MCP synthesis (Clark et al., 1992; Stern et al., 1994). Therefore, the efficiency of MCP synthesis is an indicator of the efficiency of utilization of available energy for microbial growth, however, it does not indicate the efficiency of N utilization by ruminal microbes (Bach et al., 2005; Calsamiglia et al., 2010). Bach et al. (1999) proposed a rumen N use efficiency in terms of g of bacterial N/g of available N. Although this concept may improve our understanding of efficiency of N capture by rumen microbes and would contribute to reduce N excretion by ruminants, it is difficult to apply because it relies on estimating the availability of endogenous N in the rumen (Calsamiglia et al., 2010). At the animal level, efficiency of N utilization (ENU) is commonly expressed in terms of g N in product/ g N intake. There is a large variation in ENU (15 - 40 %, Calsamiglia et al., 2010) indicating the opportunity for dietary modifications to improve ENU (Dijkstra et al., 2013). Numerous studies investigated strategies for modifying rumen metabolism in view of optimizing rumen microbial fermentation and duodenal protein flow. Most effective strategies to reduce N losses are decreasing the concentration of dietary N, manipulating the rumen protein degradation, and/or manipulating the efficiency of N utilization by rumen microbes (Tamminga, 1996). The present thesis aimed at investigating the influence of nutritional factors on ruminal MCP synthesis in view of their potential to increase animals' protein supply by increasing duodenal MCP flow and/or reducing ruminal protein degradation, and to thereby improve ENU.

4.2.1 Feeding rapidly fermentable carbohydrates

In ruminant diets, feeding rapidly fermentable carbohydrates (i.e. sugars) aims at increasing energy availability for rumen microbial growth and thereby enhance MCP synthesis (Nocek and Russell, 1988) and N capture by rumen microbes (Sniffen et al., 1992). Silage-based diets often contain high levels of non-protein N and rumen degradable protein and ammonia-N will be rapidly released in the rumen (Givens and Rulquin, 2004). In such cases, providing rapidly fermentable carbohydrates is believed to increase MCP synthesis because availability of fermentable energy and N in the rumen will be more synchronized (Dewhurst et al, 2000).

Regarding the effects of feeding sugars on MCP synthesis, results in the literature are inconsistent. In the first study, intraruminal infusion of glucose increased duodenal MCP flow (Chapter 2). Likewise, several studies observed increased flow of MCP at the duodenum with increasing amounts of rapidly fermentable carbohydrates including glucose (Rooke et al., 1987), sucrose (Kim et al., 1999 a, 2000; Chamberlain et al., 1993), and maltodextrin (Kim et al., 1999b). This increase in ruminal MCP synthesis is mainly attributed to be a direct result of increased energy supply with sugar supplementation that enables higher MCP synthesis. However, the partial replacement of dietary corn with sucrose decreased ruminal MCP synthesis (Sannes et al., 2002) and MCP synthesis was unchanged when replacing dietary starch with sucrose (Broderick et al., 2008). Oba (2011) concluded that feeding sugars may not increase duodenal MCP flow if it is replaced for starch. This can partially be explained by the fact that the fermentation of mono- and disaccharides (sugars) yields less adenosine triphosphate per g fermented substrate compared to the maximum value achieved by polysaccharides (Hall and Hereijk, 2001; VanDuinkerken et al., 2011).

Some studies have shown that feeding sugars decreased ammonia-N concentration in ruminal fluid (Chamberlain et al., 1993; Sannes et al., 2002; Broderick et al., 2008) and urinary N excretion (Sannes et al., 2002; Broderick et al., 2008). However, ENU for milk protein production was shown to decrease with inclusion of sucrose (Broderick et al., 2008). It was suggested that feeding high-sugar diets may not improve ENU when replaced for starch (Oba, 2011). The data of the first study (Chapter 2) cannot contribute to a better understanding regarding effects of sugar infusion on ENU because ruminal ammonia-N concentrations were not measured and animals used were non-producing and fed at maintenance energy level. Although fecal N excretion increased with incremental glucose infusion which was attributed to higher ruminal MCP synthesis, urinary N excretion remained at a constant level, irrespective of the glucose dosage level. It is suggested that the effect of N capture of rumen

microbes due to glucose was not high enough to provoke any reduction in urinary N excretion und hence, decrease volatile N losses. If N intake from the basal diet and urea would have been lower, it can be assumed that urinary N excretion would have decreased with increasing glucose dosages. Besides, Heldt et al. (1999) emphasized that feeding sugars (glucose and fructose) are superior to starch at improving the utilization of low quality forages owing to increased fiber digestion and feed intake if ruminal degradable protein is sufficient.

4.2.2 The use of Quebracho tannin extract in modification of rumen protein turnover

Some of the most important factors determining protein degradation by rumen microbes include the solubility and structure of the dietary protein (Yu, 2006), interactions with other feed compounds, and the prevailing microbial consortium which in turn greatly depends on the type of ration, passage rate, and rumen pH (Bach et al., 2005). High-quality forages often contain high proportions of rapidly soluble protein that are degraded in the rumen, releasing ammonia-N that will, if not incorporated into microbial matter, result in inevitable losses of N from the rumen and reduce ENU (Calsamiglia et al., 2010). Therefore, protecting feed proteins from microbial breakdown will decrease their excess degradation beyond the microbial requirements for N and thereby improve the ENU (Tamminga, 1992; Reynolds and Kristensen, 2008). For instance, low to moderate concentrations of condensed tannins are considered to increase rumen-escape protein due to reduced ruminal protein degradation because condensed tannins are able to bind (dietary) protein and thus improve protein supply at the small intestine (Jones and Mangan, 1977; Min et al., 2003). In the second study of this thesis (Chapter 3), the decreasing urinary N and increasing fecal N excretions with increasing QTE dosages are primarily attributed to reduced ruminal protein degradation and a greater outflow of rumen-escape protein. Ammonia-N concentrations in ruminal fluid were not altered by QTE infusion in our study (Dickhoefer et al., 2014). This was likely related to a lower ammonia-N release (from reduced protein degradation) along with lower incorporation of N compounds in microbial matter due to decrease in rumen MCP synthesis with increasing QTE dosages. Considering another reason, ruminal protein degradation to peptides can be reduced without affecting ruminal ammonia-N concentration (Bach et al., 2005). Ferme et al. (2004) showed that Prevotella ruminantium and Prevotella bryantii are important ammoniaproducing bacteria and reduction in their numbers reduced ammonia-N concentration in rumen fluid in the study of these authors. Therefore, lack of QTE effect on major ammoniaproducing microbes and their deaminase activity could also explain the similar ammonia-N concentrations in rumen fluid across QTE infusion levels. Besides, regarding effects on rumen MCP synthesis, an incomplete ruminal protein degradation to peptides could have caused a shortage of peptides and amino acids, limiting growth of certain microbial species that require such N sources (Maeng et al., 1976; Griswold et al., 1996). This effect might have additionally hampered rumen MCP synthesis besides the other direct (e.g. inhibition of extracellular enzymes) and other indirect effects (e.g. reduced energy availability through impaired carbohydrate fermentation) of QTE on rumen MCP synthesis discussed in Chapter 3.

Although the reduction in urinary N excretion with increasing QTE dosages can be regarded as beneficial because it could contribute to lower ammonia-N emissions from manure (Powell et al., 2011), the decrease in duodenal MCP flow, decrease in efficiency of MCP synthesis, and hence, the reduction in animals protein supply at moderate to high QTE dosages will negate any positive effects of reduced urinary N excretion. Therefore, it is concluded that QTE addition appears unable to improve ENU. Other studies investigating effects of QTE addition in producing dairy cows (Dschaak et al., 2011) and growing lambs (Komolong et al., 2001) could not observe positive effects on ENU.

4.3 Conclusions

The results of the present thesis demonstrate that the intraruminal infusion of glucose increases and QTE decreases the urinary excretion of PD. Therefore, using the urinary PD excretion as a non-invasive indicator appears to be able to reflect changes in duodenal MCP flow. However, urinary PD excretion probably underestimates duodenal MCP flow compared to calculated values (GfE, 2001). Furthermore, the intraruminal infusion of increasing dosages of glucose does not result in a linear response in urinary PD excretion. This non-linear response in urinary PD excretion to incremental dosages of glucose infusion is at least partly attributed to shifts in the species composition of rumen microbial consortium causing changes in the purine-N to total-N ratio of mixed rumen microbes. Urinary PD excretion declined linearly with increasing QTE dosage reflecting a decrease in duodenal MCP flow which is mainly attributed to inhibiting effects of QTE infusion on rumen microbial growth. Shifts in the purine concentration with increasing QTE dosages show that the urinary PD excretion is unreliable to predict the absolute extent of decrease in duodenal MCP flow with increasing QTE dosages. The QTE infusion greatly shifted N excretion towards feces, which can be desired from an environmental perspective. However, the QTE addition to ruminant diets might not be able to improve protein supply and performance of cattle.

Hence, the urinary PD excretion as an indicator of duodenal MCP flow has potential, however, there are still limitations making it unreliable for being applied as reference measurements for duodenal MCP flow within protein evaluation systems. Treatment related changes in i.e. microbial purine concentrations might not only result in considerable under- or overestimations of duodenal MCP flow, but also mask potential treatment effects on urinary PD excretion and hence, limiting the accuracy and validity of the urinary PD excretion as a non-invasive indicator. Therefore, extensive research is required that focus on various dietary and animal factors that lead to considerable variations of the parameters (i.e. purine concentration, endogenous PD excretion) required for using this indicator.

4.4 References

- Alderman, G., Cottrill, B.R., 1993. Energy and protein requirements of ruminants. CAB international, Wallingford, UK, p. 159.
- Bach, A., Calsamiglia, S., Stern, M.D., 2005. Nitrogen metabolism in the rumen. J. Dairy Sci.88 (E suppl.), E9-E21.
- Bach, A., Yoon, I.K., Stern, M.D., Jung, H.G., Chester-Jones, H., 1999. Effects of type of carbohydrate supplementation to lush pasture on microbial fermentation in continuous culture. J. Dairy Sci. 82, 153-160.
- Balcells, J., Guada, J.A., Castrillo, C., Gasa, J., 1991. Urinary excretion of allantoin and allantoin precursors by sheep after different rates of purine infusion into the duodenum. J. Agric. Sci. 116, 309-317.
- Bates, D.B., Gillett, J.A., Barao, S.A., Bergen, W.G., 1985. The effect of specific growth rate and stage of growth on nucleic acid-protein values of pure cultures and mixed ruminal bacteria. J. Anim. Sci. 61, 713-724.
- Beckers, Y., Thewis, A., 1994. Excretion of purine derivatives in urine of Belgian Blue bulls following duodenal infusion of purines from Torula yeast. Proc. Soc. Nutr. Physiol. 235.
- Brito, A.F., Broderick, G.A., Reynal, S.M., 2007. Effects of different protein supplements on omasal nutrient flow and microbial protein synthesis in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 90, 1828-1841.

- Broderick, G.A., Luchini, N.D., Reynal, S.M., Varga, G.A., Ishler, V.A., 2008. Effect on production of replacing dietary starch with sucrose in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 91, 4801-4810.
- Broderick, G.A., Merchen, N.R., 1992. Markers for quantifying microbial protein synthesis in the rumen. J. Dairy Sci. 75, 2618-2632.
- Broudiscou, L., Jouany, J.P., 1995. Reassessing the manipulation of protein synthesis by rumen microbes. Reprod. Nutr. Dev. 35, 517-535.
- Calsamiglia, S., Ferret, A., Reynolds, C.K., Kristensen, N.B., van Vuuren, A.M., 2010. Strategies for optimizing nitrogen use by ruminants. Animal 4, 1184-1196.
- Carro, M.D., Miller, E.L., 2002. Comparison of microbial markers (¹⁵N and purine bases) and bacterial isolates for the estimation of rumen microbial protein synthesis. Anim. Sci. 75, 315-321.
- Castro-Montoya, J.M., Makkar, H.P.S., Becker, K., 2011. Chemical composition of rumen microbial fraction and fermentation parameters as affected by tannins and saponins using an in vitro rumen fermentation system. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 91, 433-448.
- Chamberlain, D.G., Robertson, S., Choung, J.-J., 1993. Sugars versus starch as supplements to grass silage: Effects in ruminal fermentation and the supply of microbial protein to the small intestine, estimated from the urinary excretion of purines derivatives, in sheep. J. Sci. Food Agric. 63, 189-194.
- Chen, X.B., Gomes, M.J., 1992. Estimation of microbial protein supply to sheep and cattle based on urinary excretion of purine derivatives: An overview over technical details. International Feed Resources Unit, Aberdeen, United Kingdom.
- Chen, X.B., Hovell, F.D.DeB., Ørskov, E.R., Brown, D.S., 1990. Excretion of purine derivatives by ruminants: effect of exogenous nucleic acid supply on purine derivative excretion by sheep. Br. J. Nutr. 63, 131-142.
- Chen, X.B., Ørskov, E.R., 2003. Research on urinary excretion of purine derivatives in ruminants: past, present, and future. International Feed Resources Unit, Macaulay Land Use Research Institute, Craigiebuckler, Aberdeen, UK.
- Clark, J.H., Klusmeyer, T.H., Cameron, M.R., 1992. Microbial protein synthesis and flows of nitrogen fractions to the duodenum of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 75, 2304-2323.

- De Boever, J.L., Iantcheva, N., Cottyn, B.G., De Campeneere, S., Fiems, L.O., Boucqué, Ch.V., 1998. Microbial protein synthesis in growing-finishing bulls estimated from the urinary excretion of purine derivatives. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 75, 93-109.
- Dewhurst, R.J., Davies, D.R., Merry, R.J., 2000. Microbial protein supply from the rumen. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 85, 1-21.
- Dickhoefer, U., Ahnert, S., Susenbeth, A. (submitted). Effects of Quebracho tannin extract on rumen fermentation and yield and composition of microbial mass in heifers. Br. J. Nutr. (*under review*).
- Dickhoefer, U., Susenbeth, A., Ahnert, S., 2014. Composition of microbial biomass and rumen fluid in forestomachs of heifers supplemented with graded levels of Quebracho tannin extract. Proceedings of the Society of Nutrition Physiology 23, 131.
- Dijkstra, J., Reynolds, C.K., Kebreab, E., Bannink, A., Ellis, J.L., France, J., van Vuuren, A.M., 2013. Challenges in ruminant nutrition: towards minimal nitrogen losses in cattle. Proceedings of the Energy and Protein Nutrition Symposium 134, 47-57.
- Dschaak, C.M., Williams, C.M., Holt, M.S., Eun, J.-S., Young, A.J., Min, B.R., 2011. Effects of supplementing condensed tannin extract on intake, digestion, ruminal fermentation, and milk production of lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 94, 2508-2519.
- Ferme, D., Banjac, M., Calsamiglia, S., Busquet, M., Kamel, C., Avgustin, G., 2004. The effects of plant extracts on microbial community structure in a rumen-simulating continuous-culture system as revealed by molecular profiling. Folia Microbiol. 49, 151-155.
- Firkins, J.L., Berger, L.L., Merchen, N.R., Fahey, G.C., Mulvaney, R.L., 1987. Ruminal nitrogen metabolism in steers as affected by feed intake and dietary urea concentration. J. Dairy Sci. 70, 2302-2311.
- Firkins, J.L., Hristov, A.N., Hall, M.B., Varga, G.A., St-Pierre, N.R., 2006. Integration of ruminal metabolism in dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 89, E31-E51.
- GfE, Ausschuss für Bedarfsnormen der Gesellschaft für Ernährungsphysiologie, 2001. Energie- und Nährstoffbedarf landwirtschaftlicher Nutztiere. Nr. 8. Empfehlungen zur Energie- und Nährstoffversorgung der Milchkühe und Aufzuchtrinder. DLG-Verlag, Frankfurt am Main, Germany.

- Givens, D.I., Rulquin, H., 2004. Utilization by ruminants of nitrogen compounds in silagebased diets. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 114, 1-18.
- González-Ronquillo, M., Balcells, J. Belenguer, A., Castrillo, C., Mota, M., 2004. A comparison of purine derivatives excretion with conventional methods as indices of microbial yield in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 87, 2211-2221.
- González-Ronquillo, M., Balcells, J., Guada, J.A., Vicente, F., 2003. Purine derivatives excretion in dairy cows: endogenous excretion and the effect of exogenous nucleic acid supply. J. Dairy Sci. 86, 1282-1291.
- Griswold, K.E., Hoover, W.H., Miller, T.K., Thayne, W.V., 1996. Effect of form of nitrogen on growth of ruminal microbes in continuous culture. J. Anim. Sci. 74, 483-491.
- Hall, M.B., Herejk, C., 2001. Differences in yields of microbial crude protein from in vitro fermentation of carbohydrates. J. Dairy Sci. 84, 2486-2493.
- Heldt, J.S., Cochran, R.C., Stokka, G.L., Farmer, C.G., Mathis, C.P., Titgemeyer, E.C, Nagaraja, T.G., 1999. Effects of different supplemental sugars and starch fed in combination with degradable intake protein on low-quality forage use by beef steers. J. Anim. Sci. 77, 2793-2802.
- Hristov, A.N., McAllister, T.A., Ouellet, D.R., Broderick, G.A., 2005. Comparison of purines and nitrogen-15 as microbial flow markers in beef heifers fed barley- or corn-based diets. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 85, 211-222.
- Johnson, L.M., Harrison, J.H., Riley, R.E., 1998. Estimation of the flow of microbial nitrogen to the duodenum using urinary uric acid or allantoin. J. Dairy Sci. 81, 2408-2420.
- Jones, W.T., Mangan, J.L., 1977. Complexes of the condensed tannins of sainfoin (Onobrychis viciifolia Scop.) with fraction 1 leaf protein and with submaxillary mucoprotein, and their reversal by polyethylene glycol and pH. J. Sci. Food Agric. 28, 126-136.
- Jones, G.A., McAllister, T.A., Muir, A.D., Cheng, K.-J., 1994. Effect of sainfoin (Onobrychis viciifolia Scop.) condensed tannins on growth and proteolysis by 4 strains of rumen bacteria. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 60, 1374-1378.
- Kim, K.H., Choung, J.J., Chamberlain, D.G., 1999a. Effects of varying the degree of synchrony of energy and nitrogen release in the rumen on the synthesis of microbial

protein in lactating dairy cows consuming a diet of grass silage and a cereal-based concentrate. J. Sci. Food Agric. 79, 1441-1447.

- Kim, K.H., Oh, Y.G., Choung, J.J., Chamberlain, D.G., 1999b. Effects of varying degrees of synchrony of energy and nitrogen release in the rumen on the synthesis of microbial protein in cattle consuming grass silage. J. Sci. Food Agric. 79, 833-838.
- Kim, K.H., Lee, S.S., Jeon, B.T., Kang, C.W., 2000. Effects of the pattern of energy supply on the efficiency of nitrogen utilization for microbial protein synthesis in the nonlactating cows consuming grass-silage. Asian Austral. J. Anim. 13, No. 7, 962-966.
- Komolong, M.K., Barber, D.G., McNeill, D.M., 2001. Post-ruminal protein supply and N retention of weaner sheep fed on a basal diet of lucerne hay (Medicago sativa) with increasing levels of quebracho tannins. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 92, 59-72.
- Madsen, J., 1985. The basis for the proposed Nordic protein evaluation system for ruminants. The AAT-PBV system. Acta Agric. Scand. Suppl. 25, 9-20.
- Maeng, W.J., Van Nevel, C.J., Baldwin, R.L., Morris, J.G., 1976. Rumen microbial growth rate and yield: Effect of amino acids and protein. J. Dairy Sci. 59, 636-642.
- Martín-Orúe, S.M., Balcells, J., Guada, J.A., Fondevila, M., 2000. Microbial nitrogen production in growing heifers: direct measurement of duodenal flow of purine bases versus urinary excretion of purine derivatives as estimation procedures. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 88, 171-188.
- McAllan, A.B., 1982. The fate of nucleic acids in ruminants. Proceedings of the Society of Nutrition Physiology 41, 309-317.
- McAllan, A.B., Smith, R.H., 1973. Degradation of nucleic acid derivatives in the rumen. Br. J. Nutr. 29, 331-345.
- Min, B.R., Barry, T.N., Attwood, G.T., McNabb, W.C., 2003. The effect of condensed tannins on the nutrition and health of ruminants fed fresh temperate forages: a review. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 106, 3-19.
- Moorby, J.M., Dewhurst, R.J., Evans, R.T., Danelón, J.L., 2006. Effects of dairy cow diet forage proportion on duodenal nutrient supply and urinary purine derivative excretion.J. Dairy Sci. 89, 3552-3562.

- Nocek, J.E., Russell, J.B., 1988. Protein and energy as an integrated system. Relationship of ruminal protein and carbohydrate availability to microbial synthesis and milk production. J. Dairy Sci. 71, 2070-2107.
- NRC, 1996. Nutrient requirements of beef cattle. Seventh Revised Edition, National Academy Press, Washington, D.C., p. 242.
- O'Donovan, L., Brooker, J.D., 2001. Effect of hydrolysable and condensed tannins on growth, morphology and metabolism of Streptococcus gallolyticus (S. caprinus) and Streptococcus bovis. Microbiology 147, 1025-1033.
- Oba, M., 2011. Review: Effects of feeding sugars on productivity of lactating dairy cows. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 91, 37-46.
- Obispo, N.E., Dehority, B.A., 1999. Feasibility of using total purines as a marker for ruminal bacteria. J. Anim. Sci. 77, 3084-3095.
- Orellana Boero, P., Balcells, J., Martín-Orúe, S.M., Liang, J.B., Guada, J.A., 2001. Excretion of purine derivatives in cows: endogenous contribution and recovery of exogenous purine bases. Livestock Production Science 68, 243-250.
- Pérez, J.F., Balcells, J., Fondevila, M., Guada, J.A., 1998. Composition of liquid- and particle-associated bacteria and their contribution to the rumen outflow. Aust. J. Agr. Res. 49, 907-914.
- Pérez, J.F., Balcells, J., Guada, J.A., Castrillo, C., 1997. Rumen microbial production estimated from urinary purine derivatives excretion or from direct measurements of 15-N and purine bases as microbial markers: effect of protein source and rumen bacteria isolates. Anim. Sci. 65, 225-236.
- Powell, J.M., Aguerre, M.J., Wattiaux, M.A., 2011. Tannin extracts abate ammonia emissions from simulated dairy barn floors. J. Environ. Qual. 40, 907-914.
- Reynal, S.M., Broderick, G.A., Bearzi, C., 2005. Comparison of four markers for quantifying microbial protein flow from the rumen of lactating dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. 88, 4065-4082.
- Reynolds, C.K., Kristensen, N.B., 2008. Nitrogen recycling through the gut and the nitrogen economy of ruminants: An asynchronous symbiosis. J. Anim. Sci. 86, E293-E305.

- Rodríguez, C.A., González, J., Alvir, M.R., Repetto, J.L., Centeno, C., Lamrani, F., 2000. Composition of bacteria harvested from the liquid and solid fractions of the rumen of sheep as influenced by feed intake. Br. J. Nutr. 84, 369-376.
- Rooke, J.A., Lee, N.H., Armstrong, D.G., 1987. The effects of intraruminal infusions of urea, casein, glucose syrup and a mixture of casein and glucose syrup on nitrogen digestion in the rumen of cattle receiving grass-silage diets. Br. J. Nutr. 57, 89-98.
- Sannes, R.A., Messman, M.A., Vagnoni, D.B., 2002. Form of rumen-degradable carbohydrate and nitrogen on microbial protein synthesis and protein efficiency of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 85, 900-908.
- Shingfield, K.J., 2000. Estimation of microbial protein supply in ruminant animals based on renal and mammary purine metabolite excretion. A review. J. Anim. Feed Sci.9, 169-212.
- Shingfield, K.J., Offer, N.W., 1998. Evaluation of the spot urine sampling technique to assess urinary pseudouridine excretion in lactating dairy cows. Agric. Food Sci. Finl. 7, 345-356.
- Siddons, R.C., Beever, D.E., Nolan, J.V., 1982. A comparison of methods for estimation of microbial nitrogen in duodenal digesta of sheep. Br. J. Nutr. 48, 377-389.
- Sniffen, C.J., O'Connor, J.D., Van Soest, P.J., Fox, D.G., Russell, J.B., 1992. A net carbohydrate and protein system for evaluating cattle diets: II. Carbohydrate and protein availability. J. Anim. Sci. 70, 3562-3577.
- Stefanon, B., Mills, C.R., Spanghero, M., Susmel, P., 1995. An evaluation of purine derivatives as indicators of rumen microbial protein synthesis in dry and lactating cows. VII Symposium on Protein and Nutrition, Santarem, Portugal, 24-27 May 1995, 147-152.
- Stern, M.D., Varga, G.A., Clark, J.H., Firkins, J.L., Huber, J.T., Palmquist, 1994. Evaluation of chemical and physical properties of feeds that affect protein metabolism in the rumen. J. Dairy Sci. 77, 2762-2786.
- Tamminga, S., 1992. Nutrition management of dairy cows as a contribution to pollution control. J. Dairy Sci. 75, 345-357.
- Tamminga, S., 1996. A review on environmental impacts of nutritional strategies in ruminants. J. Anim. Sci. 74, 3112-3124.

- Tamminga, S., Van Straalen, W.M., Subnel, A.P.J., Meiijer, R.G.M., Steg, A., Wever, C.J.G., Blok, M.C., 1994. The Dutch protein evaluation system: The DVE/OEB system. Livest. Prod. Sci. 40, 139-155.
- Titgemeyer, E.C., 1997. Design and interpretation of nutrient digestion studies. J. Anim. Sci. 75, 2235-2247.
- Vagnoni, D.B., Broderick, G.A., 1997. Effects of supplementation of energy or ruminally undegraded protein to lactating cows fed alfalfa hay or silage. J. Dairy Sci. 80, 1703-1712.
- Vagnoni, D.B., Broderick, G.A., Clayton, M.K., Hatfield, R.D., 1997. Excretion of purine derivatives by Holstein cows abomasally infused with incremental amounts of purines. J. Dairy Sci. 80, 1695-1702.
- Van Duinkerken, G., Blok, M.C., Bannink, A., Cone, J.W., Dijkstra, J., Van Vuuren, A.M., Tamminga, S., 2011. Update of the Dutch protein evaluation system for ruminants: the DVE/OEB2010 system. J. Agric. Sci. 149, 351-367.
- Vasta, V., Yánez, D.R., Mele, M., Serra, A., Luciano, G., Lanza, M., Biondi, L., Priolo, A., 2010. Bacterial and protozoal communities and fatty acid profile in the rumen of sheep fed a diet containing added tannins. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76, 2549-2555.
- Verbic, J., Chen, X.B., Macleod, N.A., Ørskov, E.R., 1990. Excretion of purine derivatives by ruminants – effect of microbial nucleic acid infusion on purine derivative excretion by steers. J. Agric. Sci. 114, 243-248.
- Yu, P., 2006. Synchrotron IR microspectroscopy for protein structure analysis: potential and questions: a review. Spectroscopy. 20:229-251.

5 Summary

The protein synthesis by rumen microbes plays a central role in ruminant nutrition, providing more than half of the essential amino acids that are available for absorption at the small intestine. Therefore, the accurate quantification of duodenal microbial crude protein (MCP) flow is a key issue in ruminant nutrition in order to provide especially high producing ruminants with adequate amounts of protein and to improve production performance and efficiency of nitrogen utilization. The excretion of purine derivatives (PD) via the urine is a non-invasive indicator for estimating duodenal MCP flow in ruminant animals and has the potential to be used even under on-farm conditions. The overall aim of this thesis was to investigate the response of urinary PD excretion to nutritional factors affecting ruminal MCP synthesis in two animal studies in order to evaluate the accuracy and validity of this indicator to reflect changes in MCP supply.

In the first study, four rumen-cannulated heifers were infused intraruminally with increasing dosages of glucose, a rapidly fermentable carbohydrate source, to stimulate MCP synthesis and to verify the linearity between glucose dosage and urinary PD excretion. Urinary PD excretion increased with glucose infusion, however, against our expectations, the relationship between glucose dosage and urinary PD excretion was not linear. A pronounced increase in PD excretion was observed at lowest glucose dosage and any increment in glucose dosage did not lead to further increments. In contrast, fecal nitrogen excretion linearly increased with increasing glucose dosage which is most likely due to a greater excretion of MCP synthesised in the rumen. This contradicting response between urinary PD and fecal nitrogen excretion to incremental dosages of glucose infusion is at least attributed to shifts in the species composition of rumen microbial consortium causing changes in the purine concentration of the microbial biomass, limiting the accuracy of the urinary PD excretion as a non-invasive indicator.

In the second study, six rumen-cannulated heifers were used to investigate the effects of intraruminal infusion of increasing dosages of commercial Quebracho tannin extract (QTE), a condensed tannin source, on apparent total tract nutrient digestibilities, nitrogen balance, and urinary PD excretion. Moderate to high QTE dosages (≥ 4 % of dry matter intake) reduced apparent total tract digestibility of organic matter especially that of structural carbohydrates, lowering energy supply to the host. The QTE infusion greatly shifted nitrogen excretion towards feces, which is desired from an environmental perspective. Urinary PD excretion 84

declined linearly with increasing QTE dosage reflecting a decrease in duodenal MCP flow which is mainly attributed to inhibiting effects of QTE infusion on rumen microbial growth. At moderate to high QTE dosages, it is unlikely that the increase in rumen-escape protein will lead to greater post-ruminal amino acid absorption due to pronounced reductions in duodenal MCP flow. According to these findings, the addition of QTE to ruminant diets does not improve protein supply and performance of cattle.

The results of the present thesis indicate that the urinary PD excretion as a non-invasive indicator appears to be able to reflect changes in duodenal MCP flow. However, for situations when considerable amounts of rapidly fermentable carbohydrates and condensed tannins are part of the diet, the accuracy of estimating duodenal MCP flow from urinary PD excretion is limited.

6 Zusammenfassung

Die Synthese des mikrobiellen Rohproteins im Pansen spielt in der Ernährung von Wiederkäuern eine zentrale Rolle, da sie mehr als die Hälfte der essentiellen Aminosäuren für die Absorption am Dünndarm bereitstellt. Aus diesem Grund ist die genaue Quantifizierung des duodenalen mikrobiellen Proteinflusses von entscheidender Bedeutung, um vor allem hochleistende Wiederkäuer adäquat mit Protein zu versorgen und dabei die Tierleistung und Effizienz der Stickstoffverwertung zu verbessern. Die Ausscheidung von Purinderivaten im Urin ist ein nicht-invasiver Indikator zur Schätzung des duodenalen mikrobiellen Proteinflusses und hat zudem das Potential, auch unter praktischen Haltungsbedingungen Anwendung zu finden. Die Zielsetzung der vorliegenden Arbeit lag darin, die Reaktion der Purinderivatausscheidung im Urin auf nutritive Faktoren, welche die ruminale mikrobielle Proteinsynthese beeinflussen, im Rahmen von zwei Tierversuchen zu untersuchen. Dabei stand die Bewertung dieses Markers hinsichtlich seiner Genauigkeit und Validität, Veränderungen des duodenalen mikrobiellen Proteinflusses zu erkennen, im Vordergrund.

Im ersten Tierversuch wurde vier fistulierten Färsen steigende Mengen Glukose intraruminal appliziert. Ziel war es dabei, die mikrobielle Proteinsynthese zu stimulieren und zu prüfen, ob die Beziehung zwischen Glukosemenge und Purinderivatausscheidung im Urin linear ist. Die Purinderivatausscheidung im Urin nahm mit steigender Glukosemenge zu, jedoch war die Beziehung zwischen renaler Purinderivatausscheidung und verabreichter Glukosemenge nicht linear. Der größte Anstieg in der Purinderivatausscheidung trat bei der geringsten Glukosezulage (125 g/Tag) auf. Ein weiterer Anstieg in der Purinderivatausscheidung konnte auch mit steigenden Glukosemengen (bis 1000 g/Tag) nicht beobachtet werden. Die Kotstickstoffausscheidung nahm hingegen mit steigender Glukosemenge linear zu, was hauptsächlich auf eine erhöhte Ausscheidung von mikrobiellem Protein, aufgrund einer erhöhten mikrobiellen Proteinsynthese im Pansen, zurückgeführt werden kann. Der zwischen Purinderivatausscheidung Urin Widerspruch der im und der Kotstickstoffausscheidung mit steigender Glukosemenge liegt teilweise in einer Verschiebungen der Zusammensetzung der mikrobiellen Population im Pansen begründet, welche zu einer Veränderung der Konzentration an Purinbasen in der mikrobiellen Biomasse führt. Da im Modell von einer konstanten Purinbasenkonzentration ausgegangen wird, reduzieren Veränderungen die Genauigkeit der Purinderivatausscheidung als Indikator.

Im zweiten Tierversuch mit sechs fistulierten Färsen wurde der Einfluss von steigenden intraruminal applizierten Dosierungen von Quebracho Tannin Extrakt (QTE), einer 86

kondensierten Tanninguelle, auf die scheinbaren Nährstoffverdaulichkeiten. die Stickstoffbilanz und die Purinderivatausscheidung, untersucht. Dosierungen von ≥ 4 % QTE (der Trockenmasseaufnahme) reduzierten die scheinbare Gesamttraktverdaulichkeit der organischen Substanz und vor allem die der Strukturkohlenhydrate, was zu einer Verringerung der Energieversorgung der Tiere führte. Durch das QTE kam es zu einer deutlichen Verschiebung der Stickstoffausscheidung vom Urin zum Kot, was unter dem Gesichtspunkt des Umweltschutzes einen positiven Effekt darstellen könnte. Die Purinderivatausscheidung im Urin nahm linear mit steigender QTE Dosierung ab, was auf eine Abnahme des duodenalen mikrobiellen Proteinflusses hindeutet und vor allem auf eine hemmende Wirkung des QTE auf die Pansenmikroben zurückgeführt werden kann. Es erscheint unwahrscheinlich, dass der erhöhte Fluss von unabgebautem Protein aus dem Pansen bei mittlerer bis hoher QTE Dosierung die Reduktion des mikrobiellen Proteinflusses am Duodenum ausgleichen kann. Es konnte somit kein Hinweis auf eine Verbesserung der Proteinversorgung und Leistung bei Wiederkäuern durch die Zugabe von QTE gefunden werden.

Die Ergebnisse dieser Versuche deuten darauf hin, dass die renale Purinderivatausscheidung geeignet ist, Veränderungen des duodenalen mikrobiellen Proteinflusses zu erkennen. Bei Rationen, welche hohe Gehalte an schnell fermentierbaren Kohlenhydraten und kondensierten Tanninen enthalten, kann es zu Ungenauigkeiten in der Schätzung des mikrobiellen Proteinflusses am Duodenum kommen.

Curriculum Vitae

Persönliche Daten

Name	Veronika <u>Sandra</u> Ahnert
Geburtsdatum, -ort	24.07.1984, in Karl-Marx-Stadt
Familienstand	ledig
Staatsangehörigkeit	deutsch
Schulbildung	
1991 – 1995	Grundschule Oberlichtenau
1995 – 1996	Mittelschule Auerswalde
1996 – 2003	Städtisches Gymnasium Mittweida
	Abschluss: Allgemeine Hochschulreife
Hochschulausbildung	
09/2003 - 02/2008	Studium der Agrarwirtschaft an der Hochschule für Technik und
	Wirtschaft Dresden (FH)
	Diplomarbeitsthema: Frühdiagnostik von Erkrankungen bei
	Milchkühen mit Hilfe von Infrarotthermographie
	Abschluss: Diplom-Ingenieurin (FH)
03/2008 - 10/2010	Masterstudium der Agrarwissenschaften an der Christian-
	Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel
	Fachrichtung: Nutztierwissenschaften
	Masterarbeitsthema: Effect of concentrate supplementation on
	feed intake of grazing sheep in Inner Mongolia.
	Abschluss: Master of Science
Berufliche Tätigkeit/ Praktische Erfahrungen	
04/2006 - 09/2007	Werksstudentin in einem konventionell wirtschaftenden
	Milchviehbetrieb, Sachsen
10/2007 - 03/2008	Praktikantin in einem konventionell wirtschaftenden
	Milchviehbetrieb, Ontario, Kanada

04/2008 - 09/2008	Mitarbeiterin in einem ökologisch wirtschaftenden Obst- und
	Gemusebaubetrieb, British Columbia, Kanada
08/2009 - 09/2009	Tätigkeit bei Beweidungsstudien im Rahmen des Deutsch-
	Chinesischen "MAGIM" Projektes, Innere Mongolei, China
05/2010 - 09/2010	Praktikum in einem konventionell wirtschaftenden
	Weinbaubetrieb, Languedoc-Roussillons, Frankreich
10/2010 - 12/2014	Wissenschaftliche Mitarbeiterin am Institut für Tierernährung
	und Stoffwechselphysiologie mit dem Ziel der Promotion, im
	Rahmen des Projektes "Food Chain Plus" (FoCus), an der
	Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel

Danksagung

Ich möchte mich hiermit noch einmal ganz herzlich bei all denen bedanken, die mich bei der Entstehung dieser Arbeit unterstützt haben.

Zuallererst möchte mich bei meinem Doktorvater Herrn Prof. Dr. Andreas Susenbeth bedanken, für seine fachliche und darüber hinaus sehr menschliche Unterstützung in allen Phasen meiner Arbeit. Ich danke Ihnen sehr, dass Ihre Tür und Ohren immer für meine Fragen und Wünsche offen standen und dass Sie so manche Tagungsreise möglich gemacht haben.

Mein ganz besonderer Dank gilt meiner Betreuerin Frau Prof. Dr. Uta Dickhöfer. Du hast sowohl in der praktischen Tätigkeit, als auch im wissenschaftlichen Bereich sehr zum Gelingen dieser Arbeit beigetragen. Ich danke dir für die vielen Diskussionen, Anregungen und Hilfestellungen.

Ganz herzlich bedanken möchte ich mich bei allen Kollegen und Kolleginnen des Instituts für Tierernährung und Stoffwechselphysiologie. Ich möchte dabei vor allem Monika Paschke-Beese und Annette Hollmann für die Durchführung und Unterstützung bei den Laboranalysen danken. Ein besonderer Dank gilt meinen Kollegen Dr. Britta Bösing, Franziska Schulz, Anika Henke, Birgit Beyer, Simon Klatt, Faraz Ansari, Charlotte Baum, und Dr. Silvia Wein für die vielen fachlichen und persönlichen Gespräche und den wertvollen Gedankenaustausch.

Meinen Masterstudenten Niels Moritz, Hartwig Schoof und Franziska Schulz, sowie allen Hiwis, möchte ich für die tolle Arbeit und praktische Unterstützung danken. Ihr habt wesentlich zur Datensammlung und Auswertung dieser Arbeit beigetragen.

Dr. Mario Hasler möchte ich an dieser Stelle für seine Hilfe bei der statistischen Auswertung und besonders für die vielen Stunden geduldiger Beratung danken.

Nicht zuletzt möchte ich mich natürlich noch bei meinen "Mädels" im Stall bedanken! Ihr habt das alles ganz toll und geduldig mitgemacht. Danke!